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>>Committee commenced at 13:32

Chairman (Mr. Elliott): Welcome,
everybody. It looks as though everybody is
here. I would ask Mr. Curley to start with
an opening prayer. Mr. Curley.

>>Prayer

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley.
Welcome again, everyone, to the Standing
Committee on Oversight of Government
Operations and Public Accounts. | would
ask everyone to look at the agenda. Agenda
item No. 1 was prayer. Agenda item No. 2,
review and adoption of the agenda. Are we
in agreement with the agenda set out?

Some Members: Agreed.

Chairman: Thank you. With that, we will
move on to item No. 3, which is opening
statements by myself as the Chairperson of
the Committee.

Good afternoon and thank you. | would
like to welcome everyone to this meeting
of the Legislative Assembly’s Standing
Committee on Oversight of Government
Operations and Public Accounts.

We have convened today to begin the
Standing Committee’s hearings on the
2012 Report of the Auditor General of
Canada to the Legislative Assembly of
Nunavut on Procurement of Good and
Services.

I am very pleased to have the opportunity
today to welcome the new Auditor General
of Canada to his first formal appearance
before the Standing Committee.

Mr. Michael Ferguson was appointed
Auditor General of Canada on November
28, 2011. Mr. Ferguson has had a

PXbNLAGE S ANS®IC 13:32-

AP/ PCSe (AL<O)ONNNJC):
CL&DA*a P>dcGeC. MC dc
AP NCNL>q 5b<C Db JSgddC,

2>/ ®I¢

Ab/<PCSe (OLNANJO): Sdv2al®, MC dc.
D*LAPCN AD%ard bNLNGE S LRLbdC
> oMo KNCND>oM* 05 bNLNGEC,
D>d<d bNL*<YNPNAC SPISPabA*a P YD 1.
Db/LSg® 2, SPISPa g ¥ %l 55
bNL*<NPNTC. I*NeAC?

Ac*PC bNLAS: P> JC,

Ab/PCSe (OLANJO): sdyal™.

C*aP®bPN5d. 3-1¢ 0°NodcGC PR
AP R>CA LD 5™ LIAPNGC DSbclSo<SL.

> ohedt <LL sdbeal®. D**LANNLLL*L
ADS%a o CLOI*L LaLa PS>«
bNLrG* ¢ LRLEIC P> o™M* o
PaP>5SdNNC bNLAGE >N of,

> bNL*<NSbSo<DJc bNLAGC ©
ac*od®N“oNre 2012-I baClr

CLLSb/ LoD NS Dodbe<dnc DeC*eg<
0a.2¢ LcLcPsé*L* 0% AdNa*©

o PDAbBCia1c ArCNPNT .

SINL D™ DI D**LAPND*a Gbd
CLLSePLR®YDPNCNCHDE, P2 e<LeNdre
bNLAGEC KL 0 NPL®eN 5.

MC 2ULN® 0AAN 28, 2011-JN<_5J
Ned<qeCP>c P/, LRLPd* 05 dda<ob
ANcn/L oo Lo




distinguished career of public service,
including a term of office as Auditor
General of New Brunswick.

I am confident that | speak for all of my
colleagues when | say that we are looking
forward to continuing our excellent
working relationship with the Office of the
Auditor General during Mr. Ferguson’s
tenure, and we very much appreciate
looking forward to his continuing the
practice of appearing in person before our
Standing Committee on the occasion of our
annual public hearings on his office’s
reports.

I would also like to take this opportunity to
note that we are looking forward to
following Mr. Ferguson’s future reports to
the Parliament of Canada that address
federal programs that are of importance to
our constituents in Nunavut, such as the
Nutrition North Canada Program.

The Auditor General’s most recent report
to the Legislative Assembly was tabled in
the House on February 28, 2012. | would
note that this is not the first time that the
Office of the Auditor General has reported
to the Legislative Assembly on the
Government of Nunavut’s contracting
practices.

In its 2004 report to the Legislative
Assembly, the Office of the Auditor
General recommended that “All
departments should review their practices
to ensure that...government contracting
procedures are understood and followed”
and that “key documents of all types are
filed and indexed in a manner which allow
them to be located and retrieved readily.”
At that time, the government’s response to
the Auditor General’s report indicated that
it would ensure that “contracting
procedures are understood and followed
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and key documents are retained and filed.”

In recent years, Members of the Legislative
Assembly have raised a number of
concerns regarding the government’s
procurement, contracting and leasing
activities. As Members will recall, the
government’s annual reports on
departmental procurement, contracting and
leasing activities were referred to the
Committee of the Whole for detailed
consideration during the spring 2010 and
spring 2011 sittings of the House. Annual
procurement, contracting and leasing
reports from the Nunavut Housing
Corporation and the Qullig Energy
Corporation have also been considered in
the Committee of the Whole.

During these proceedings, Members raised
a number of important issues and questions
concerning the government’s practices with
respect to the sole sourcing of contracts;
the extent to which the government relies
on consultants to perform work that should
be performed by its own employees; the
need to ensure that reports produced by
consultants are tabled in the Legislative
Assembly in a timely manner; the means
by which the government ensures that
safeguards are in place to protect itself
against such practices as bid rigging; and
the manner in which the government
evaluates the results of its contracting,
procurement and leasing expenditures.

I would also note that this Standing
Committee has made a number of formal
recommendations to the government in
recent years concerning the timely
preparation and tabling of its annual reports
on contracting, procurement, and leasing.

For example, in its October 29, 2010 report
on the review of the 2009-2010 Annual
Report of the Information and Privacy
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Commissioner, the Standing Committee
reiterated its recommendation that the
Government of Nunavut table annual
reports in the Legislative Assembly on the
contracting, procurement and leasing
activities for all of its Crown corporations
and agencies.

The government’s response to the Standing
Committee’s recommendation stated that
“The government agrees. The Public
Agencies Council will work closely with
the Ministers responsible for our territorial
corporations with respect to the reporting
of their contracting activities to ensure the
timelines of reporting, transparency and
accountability to Nunavummiut.”

Over the past year, there has been
improvement in this area. Annual
procurement, contracting and leasing
reports have been tabled by the Nunavut
Housing Corporation, the Nunavut
Business Credit Corporation, and the
Qullig Energy Corporation. However, the
timeliness of these tablings could be
improved.

Before closing, | would like to take a
moment to cover some housekeeping
matters.

Following the Auditor General’s opening
statement, the Deputy Minister of
Community and Government Services will
be invited to make an opening statement.
This will be followed by opening
statements from the president of the
Nunavut Housing Corporation, the
president of the Qulliq Energy Corporation,
and the Deputy Minister of Economic
Development and Transportation.

Members of the Standing Committee will
then be invited to pose general questions
and comments to the Auditor General and
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other witnesses on their opening
statements. The Standing Committee will
then proceed to its detailed paragraph-by-
paragraph consideration of the 2012 Report
of the Auditor General of Canada to the
Legislative Assembly of Nunavut on
Procurement of Goods and Services.

This week’s hearings are being recorded
and televised live across Nunavut.
Transcripts of the hearings will be
produced and posted on the Legislative
Assembly’s website at a later date. In order
to assist our interpreters and technical staff,
I would ask that Members and witnesses go
through the Chair before speaking.

I would also ask all Members, witnesses,
and observers to ensure that their
cellphones, BlackBerrys, and other
electronic devices do not disrupt these
proceedings.

I would again like to welcome Mr.
Ferguson to our hearings and invite him to
deliver his opening comments. Thank you.
Mr. Ferguson, if you would like to proceed.

Mr. Ferguson: Unnusakkut, good
afternoon, everyone. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman, for this opportunity to discuss
our report on the procurement of goods and
services. This is the first time | have
appeared before your Committee, and | am
looking forward to serving the Legislative
Assembly during my term. Joining me at
the table are Ronnie Campbell, Assistant
Auditor General, Michelle Salvail,
Principal, and Jo Ann Schwartz, Director,
who were responsible for this audit.

The Government of Nunavut’s objective
for procurement is to promote competition
and carry out contracting in an open, fair,
and transparent manner. Departments
awarded and spent about $500 million in
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2010-11 on contracts to support the
delivery of their programs.

In this audit, we focused on three entities:
Community and Government Services, the
Nunavut Housing Corporation, and the
Qullig Energy Corporation. These entities
were selected based on the level of contract
spending, responsibilities, and interest from
the Legislative Assembly. We carried out
our audit work in Igaluit, as well as in four
other communities.

I would like to provide you with a brief
overview of the findings of the report.

First, we looked at whether the
procurement framework for the
Government of Nunavut was adequately
designed. | am pleased to note that we
found that the Government of Nunavut has
an appropriate procurement framework in
place. It contains the key elements required
to procure goods and services in an open
and fair manner and to administer contracts
according to applicable contracting rules.
This includes, for example, clearly defining
situations where sole source contracting is
permitted. However, we noted elements of
the framework that needed to be improved.
For example, there is a need for clearer
direction and timely training on applying
the NNI Policy. We found that the NNI
Policy is applied inconsistently across and
within the entities.

We also looked at whether contracts were
awarded and administered according to the
rules. Mr. Chairman, while the contracting
rules are sound, there are issues with
respect to their application. Based on the
files we sampled within the three entities,
we found that many of the rules for both
awarding and administering contracts were
not followed.
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With respect to awarding competitive
contracts, Community and Government
Services followed the rules in awarding all
35 competitive contracts we reviewed.
However, the Nunavut Housing
Corporation was missing key
documentation to support the awarding of
half of its competitive contracts we looked
at. This included insufficient evidence that
the evaluation process was carried out
adequately. The Qulliq Energy Corporation
followed the rules in awarding most of its
competitive contracts.

We found that all three entities had
weaknesses in awarding sole source
contracts. We found that the requirements
that permit sole source contracting were not
always met. Community and Government
Services followed the rules in about half of
the cases examined, while the two
territorial corporations between them
followed the rules in only 1 of 24 cases.
For example, in most cases, we found that
an adequate rationale was not provided as
to why a sole source contract was the only
option. We also found that the decision to
use a sole source contract was not always
properly approved.

For contracting administration, we found
that the Qulliq Energy Corporation lacked
evidence that key controls were applied.
We are concerned that the corporation does
not have the basic information needed to
adequately manage the contracts it has
awarded. For example, it does not know
how much it has paid against each contract
or how much remains to be done for each
contract. Without this information, the
corporation is at risk of not getting what it
has contracted for or paying for goods and
services it has not received.

In addition, based on a request from the
Commissioner of Nunavut, our audit
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included the awarding of the 2008
scheduled medical travel contracts by
Community and Government Services. We
looked at the awarding of the 2011
contracts as well. We found that these
contracts were awarded according to the
contracting rules. However, the 2011
contracts were signed three months after
the airlines started operating under the new
terms of the contracts.

Mr. Chairman, let me now turn to our
observations on the common causes of
some of the weaknesses we identified.

When contracts are not awarded and
administered according to the rules, it can
affect the confidence Nunavummiut have
in the system. It also has an impact on the
value for money obtained by the
Government of Nunavut. Through the
course of our audit, we identified several
causes that contribute to the lack of
compliance with the procurement rules. We
have commented on some of these issues
before in our previous reports.

The capacity challenges faced by the
Government of Nunavut also apply to
procurement. Where the government had
the procurement expertise and capacity to
award and administer contracts, we found
better results. A lack of such expertise and
capacity impacted entities’ ability to
properly manage contracts. Further, we
found no mandatory training on awarding
and administering contracts, and training in
the three entities varied considerably.

The three entities we audited have agreed
with our recommendations and have made
several commitments in response. Mr.
Chairman, your Committee may wish to
seek details from officials about some of
these actions. In particular, your
Committee may wish to ask how the
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entities intend to address training and
capacity issues.

Mr. Chairman, this concludes my opening
remarks. My colleagues and | would be
pleased to answer any questions Committee
Members may have. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ferguson.
Next on my list | have the Deputy Minister
of Community and Government Services,
Ms. Lausman.

Ms. Lausman: Thank you, Mr. Speaker
and Standing Committee Members. It’s my
pleasure to be before you today to discuss
the Auditor General of Canada’s recent
audit findings regarding the Government of
Nunavut’s procurement practices for goods
and services. The Department of
Community and Government Services
(CGS) welcomes the Auditor General’s
analysis and comments regarding our
means of procurement. Further, we agree
with all the recommendations.

CGS is the primary contracting and
procurement arm for the GN. The OAG has
noted that the Government of Nunavut has
an appropriate procurement framework in
place. It does contain the key elements
required to procure goods and services in
an open and fair manner. Updated
documents to the policies and procedures
are evidence that the procurement policy
framework is evolving and being
improved.

All competitive contracts audited for CGS
were awarded according to the rules. All
contracts were awarded according to the
evaluation process rules. Files contained
evidence that procurement processes were
followed and that bids and proposals were
awarded fairly.
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The OAG found that adequate guidance is
available through CGS and the Contracting
Procedures Manual and various reference
guides issued by CGS. The audit found
change orders are handled properly.

The OAG also noted the multi-million
dollar scheduled medical travel contracts
were awarded according to contracting
rules and indeed all competitive contracts
audited for CGS were awarded according
to the rules. However, there is always room
for improvement in any system and the
audit process will help the department
tighten up our practices.

The OAG audit found issues in three major
categories that require improvement.

The first area referenced the NNI Policy.
Auditors suggested training and clearer
direction is required to ensure application
of the NNI Policy is consistent across all
departments within the GN. To meet that
requirement, Mr. Speaker, my department
will continue to work with the Department
of Economic Development and
Transportation (ED&T) and the NNI
Secretariat to assist with the development
of tools to ensure consistency in the
application of the policy. These tools and
templates will assist the secretariat in the
delivery of its mandate to provide NNI
Policy training.

CGS Procurement is looking forward to
participating in the NNI Policy review to
be led by ED&T. Mr. Chairman, CGS
Procurement has initiated training within
the department to standardize application
of the NNI Policy. We are developing new
forms and templates with the Department
of Justice. And the Procurement Division
has submitted a list of issues we would like
to be discussed as part of the NNI Policy
review [process].
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The Auditor General recognized that CGS
has the ability and the skill set to train other
departments in proper procurement
practices. Further, it has been recognized
that CGS has offered guidance to other GN
departments in that regard.

The second area commented on by the
OAG was that contracts awarded under the
sole source justification frequently do not
fit the rationale that is allowed under the
GN’s procurement policies. Justification
for sole source contracts needs to be
contained within the files and properly
approved.

CGS will deliver more training to
departments and internally so all
understand the proper reasons for
acceptable use of sole source contracts. We
will continue to improve our processes to
ensure that files are properly prepared and
justifications documented on the files.

Mr. Chairman, CGS Procurement has
initiated training on the required approval
process and will continue to work with
departments to establish standing offer
agreements that lessen the need for sole
source contracts. My department will also
continue to deliver training on the
procurement framework that will include
an awareness of proper use of sole source
contracts to departments. The audit also
highlighted that over the past three years,
the volume of sole source contracts has
been decreasing. This analysis is usually
presented in the annual reports tabled.

The third area needing improvement is the
documentation of certification of funds.
Mr. Chairman, we have learned through the
OAG’s findings that the order in which we
obtain approvals for funds and contracts is
flawed. This applies largely to purchases of
construction. CGS agrees with these
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findings.

Mr. Chairman, the current GN budgeting
process always ensures that funds are
approved before the money is spent.
However, the OAG audit indicates that our
paper flow needs to be changed. CGS has
developed and implemented new forms and
templates to ensure the correct chronology
of approvals are in place before
procurement for projects are initiated. CGS
ensures that goods and services are
properly received before issuing payment.

As with most functional areas within CGS,
there is an ongoing capacity gap and
frequent staff turnover. Because of this
challenge, continuous training and up-to-
date documentation on processes is
required to ensure open, fair, and
transparent procurement continues to
support the work and governance of the
GN.

Mr. Chairman, | look forward to addressing
any questions and concerns regarding the
Auditor General’s report of the
Government of Nunavut’s procurement of
goods and services. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Lausman.
Next on the list we have opening
statements by the President of the Nunavut
Housing Corporation, Mr. Barriault.

Mr. Barriault: Thank you. Mr. Chairman,
the Nunavut Housing Corporation
recognizes the importance of fair, open,
and transparent procurement practices and
is committed to complying with the
contract administration rules set out in the
procurement framework. The Nunavut
Housing Corporation appreciates the work
of the Office of the Auditor General in
reviewing and advising on such practices.
The Nunavut Housing Corporation has
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worked closely and cooperatively with the
Office of the Auditor General in this audit
process and concurs with the resulting
recommendations.

In particular, the Nunavut Housing
Corporation recognizes its current capacity
shortfall in the procurement and
contracting areas and is currently
completing an internal organizational
review that has identified the need for
dedicated contracting and procurement
staff in order to ensure that the Nunavut
Housing Corporation’s procurement needs
are met and comply with the rules.

The Nunavut Housing Corporation has
recently dedicated resources to train and
provide direction to district office contract
authorities and is continuing to recruit for
its vacant head office contract coordinator
position located in Arviat. Nunavut
Housing Corporation construction and
maintenance field staff are, in fact, in
Igaluit this week receiving procurement
and contract administration training which
will allow them, in turn, to advise local
housing organizations. Training is being
provided by the Nunavut Housing
Corporation’s new position of senior
manager of contracts and procurement, as
well as by Community and Government
Services procurement staff. QEC staff is
also participating in this training.

The Nunavut Housing Corporation is in the
process of finalizing its procurement and
contracting manual for use by both
Nunavut Housing Corporation and local
housing organization staff. This manual is
based on the contracting template
documents provided to the Nunavut
Housing Corporation by Community and
Government Services, as well as on
directives of the Financial Administration
Manual.
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The corporation has taken steps to improve
its processes for the filing and archiving of
procurement documentation. To ensure
completeness of documentation, the
Nunavut Housing Corporation has prepared
a standardized listing of documents to be
included in all of its contract files and has
been undertaking records management
training in order to comply with the
November 28, 2011 approved Archives
Regulations listing the Nunavut Housing
Corporation and other agencies as
designated bodies.

Joint training opportunities with
Community and Government Services, the
Qullig Energy Corporation, and other
Government of Nunavut entities will
continue to be pursued as part of a
formalized training program.

As well, the Nunavut Housing Corporation
has been working closely with the NNI
Secretariat and Community and
Government Services to establish
consistent application of the NNI Policy.

The NHC continues to actively pursue the
recruitment of vacant positions in order to
reduce its dependency on the use of sole
source contracts for consultants to fulfill
those roles. The NHC is in the process of
establishing standing offer agreements to
provide technical inspection and financial
management services. The request for
proposals for technical services, in fact,
closed yesterday. From a reporting
standpoint, the NHC has adopted the Office
of the Auditor General’s recommended
practice of treating software maintenance
and support sub-agreements as sole source
contracts.

Mr. Chairman, these initiatives have been
undertaken to address the key areas of
weakness identified by the Office of the
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Auditor General, that being lack of
capacity and lack of training. All
performance shortfalls noted by OAG can
be related to these two fundamental issues.

The Nunavut Housing Corporation
currently has only one indeterminate
dedicated contracting and procurement
position. These activities are currently
performed by Nunavut Housing
Corporation finance and technical staff in
addition to their other daily duties. Those
in charge of maintaining construction
contract administration records are the
same staff that is inspecting building
construction for code compliance.

Another challenge faced by the NHC is that
contract files are managed in multiple
locations and must, at times, be transferred
between offices. This has resulted in
challenges in providing comprehensive
documentation in one location for a given
contract. It is worth noting, however, that
the OAG nevertheless concluded that the
NHC complies with most of the contract
administration rules.

The Nunavut Housing Corporation is
confident that changes being proposed to
its organizational structure, combined with
a unified interdepartmental and interagency
training plan, will result in a more robust
procurement framework.

Mr. Chairman, this concludes my opening
remarks. | would be pleased to discuss with
the Committee the Report of the Office of
the Auditor General of Canada on
Procurement of Goods and Services. Thank
you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Barriault.
Next, we have opening statements from the
President of the Qullig Energy
Corporation, Mr. Mackey.
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Mr. Mackey: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
welcome this opportunity to discuss the
Auditor General of Canada’s recent audit
findings regarding the Government of
Nunavut’s procurement practices for goods
and services. On behalf of the Qullig
Energy Corporation, | accept the Auditor
General’s analysis and comments regarding
the corporation’s contracting and
procurement. We have worked with the
Auditor General throughout this process
and agree with the observations and
recommendations found in this audit.

The Office of the Auditor General’s report
highlights three main contributing factors
to non-compliance with the GN
procurement rules: the misinterpretation of
the rules, staff capacity, and a lack of
adequate training.

Mr. Chairman, while the Department of
Community and Government Services is
the primary contracting and procurement
arm of the Government of Nunavut, Qullig
Energy is responsible for the administration
of its own contracting and procurement.

At the time of this procurement audit, the
Auditor General noted that QEC did not
have its own contracting and procurement
framework, policies, or procedures in
place. The corporation is currently
developing a QEC-specific procurement
framework based on the GN’s model, with
appropriate modifications that meet the
needs of a revenue-generating Crown
utility. Mr. Chairman, the corporation will
continue to follow the GN contracting and
procurement framework where applicable
while these are being developed.

This new contracting and procurement
model will parallel that of the GN and will
comply with all relevant legislation,
regulation, policy, and directives. Once
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QEC’s framework is reviewed and
approved by the corporation’s board of
directors, it will be shared with cabinet and
made public. I anticipate the QEC board
will approve the Qullig Energy Corporation
contracting and procurement framework in
June of 2012.

In the interim, to address the need of
training for staff on procurement rules and
procedures, the corporation, in cooperation
with CGS, has been working to organize
training that encompasses the common law
principles as well as procurement rules and
procedures. QEC will arrange for
procurement training that covers the
awarding of contracts for all procurement
staff and budget holders.

Mr. Chairman, to further ensure future
compliance in contracting and
procurement, the corporation plans to
recruit for an internal auditor to assist the
board and senior management in the
effective discharge of their responsibilities.
The internal auditor will report to the QEC
board and will focus on operational,
financial, and process reviews of all
corporate operations, identifying key issues
and opportunities for improvement.

In conjunction with the procurement
training, the corporation will comply with
the GN’s sole source contracting rules until
such time as the procurement and
contracting framework is developed and
approved by the Qullig Energy Corporation
board. This will include ensuring that sole
source contracting is only carried out in the
appropriate circumstances and is
appropriately documented and approved.

Mr. Chairman, QEC is taking steps to make
sure that processes and procedures are put
into place to ensure that funds are certified
as available before a contract is entered
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into, goods and services are received and
properly authorized for payment, and
contract files are properly documented.
Training will also be initiated on the
processes and procedures to corporation
staff and budget holders. The target date for
the completion of the new approaches is to
be implemented by July 2012.

To improve the management of contract
information to make it readily available and
facilitate accurate public reporting, the
corporation’s contract information is being
reviewed for more effective ways to
manage administrative information,
including payments made against a
contract. The target date for this review to
be completed is July 2012.

Mr. Chairman, as my colleagues can attest,
building and maintaining staff capacity is
an ongoing challenge in Nunavut. Staff
turnover makes it difficult to maintain
corporate memory or sustain any continuity
in service delivery. It is difficult to attract,
train, and maintain the key talent required
in many positions across the government,
and QEC is no exception. Constantly
working shorthanded while continuously
training new staff places undue stress on
key staff and management.

| believe, Mr. Chairman, that in spite of the
obstacles we face, the corporation, with the
assistance of CGS, has the capacity to
implement the required changes to address
the issues raised in the Auditor General’s
report.

Qullig Energy’s mandate is to provide safe,
economical, and efficient electricity to
Nunavummiut. The corporation must
ensure that it is following a designated
contracting and procurement framework
and that it has the capacity to successfully
achieve its mandate.
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Mr. Chairman, this concludes my opening
comments. I look forward to addressing
any questions and concerns regarding the
Auditor General’s report of the
Government of Nunavut’s procurement of
goods and services specific to the Qulliq
Energy Corporation. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Mackey. Next,
I would ask the Deputy Minister of
Economic Development and Transportation
to approach the witness table and do a
switch-around with Mr. Mackey there. Mr.
Long, if you would like to read your
opening comments.

Mr. Long: Mr. Chairman and Standing
Committee Members, thank you for
allowing me to be here today to discuss the
results of the recent audit of the Office of
the Auditor General as it relates to the
implementation of the NNI Policy and the
GN’s procurement activities. The
Department Economic Development and
Transportation is responsible for the NNI
Secretariat, which has the responsibility of
implementing the NNI Policy.

Our department welcomes the audit of the
Auditor General’s office and we appreciate
the results of the audit as a means to
improve on the implementation of the NNI
Policy. We agree with the findings and
recommendations contained in the audit
and we look forward to the progress on the
implementation of the NNI Policy.

The Department of Economic Development
is committed to working with Community
and Government Services and other GN
contracting authorities to ensure the NNI
Policy is applied correctly and consistently
across the regions of Nunavut.

The audit undertaken by the Office of the
Auditor General produced a number of
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conclusions regarding the implementation
of the NNI Policy in the GN’s procurement
activities. These observations included:

e The need to verify the winning
contractor’s qualifications to receive
Nunavut business and Inuit firm NNI
adjustments.

e The need to ensure that training plans
for Inuit employees are included in
contracts.

e The need to ensure that the NNI Policy
is applied consistently across the
regions and from department to
department.

e The need to ensure the NNI Policy is
applied correctly, specifically to ensure
that labour bonuses and penalties are
correctly applied.

In 2010, the NNI Secretariat carried out a
representative NNI compliance audit in the
three regions of Nunavut. The audit
revealed issues similar to the results of the
Office of the Auditor General. The
Department of Economic Development and
Transportation concurs with the findings of
the Auditor General, particularly as those
findings reflect the results of the 2010 NNI
compliance audit.

In response to the information obtained
through the 2010 NNI compliance audit,
the NNI Secretariat has undertaken several
steps to develop solutions to the concerns.
These steps include:

e Developing literature to clarify the
purpose and role of the NNI Policy as it
applies to public procurement within
the GN.

e Participating in the joint effort of
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Community and Government Services
and NTI to develop an NNI exercise
workbook to assist GN procurement
staff to better understand the process of
applying the NNI Policy.

e Creating a new staff position at the NNI
Secretariat, the NNI implementation
and accounting analyst, to monitor and
assist with proper NNI Policy
implementation.

e Continuing to offer presentations and
question-and-answer sessions with GN
staff involved in procurement.

e Developing an NNI Policy monitoring
manual to be used by NNI Secretariat
staff to monitor and analyze NNI
Policy application.

The NNI Secretariat has been developing
and implementing responses to the 2010
audit which, in turn, can and will be
applied to the specific concerns raised by
the Office of the Auditor General.

The Department of Economic Development
and Transportation, with the NNI
Secretariat, is committed to the proper
implementation of the NNI Policy. This is
a real and legitimate obligation under the
legislation contained in Article 24 of the
Nunavut Land Claims Agreement.

We are committed to resolving outstanding
issues and concerns in partnership with the
Department of Community and
Government Services and with all other
GN contracting authorities. We believe that
in working together, we can achieve
success in our compliance to Article 24 of
the Nunavut Land Claims Agreement
through proper implementation of the NNI
Policy.
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I look forward to responding to specific
concerns during this hearing which were
raised by the Auditor General’s report
regarding NNI implementation. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Long. That
concludes all the opening statements from
all the different GN departments and the
corporations. So that brings us up to
agenda item No. 9, which is the health
break. At this time, we will take a 15-
minute break and then reconvene back here
in 15 minutes for Members’ general
comments and questions to the opening
comments. Are we in agreement?

Some Members: Agreed.
Chairman: Thank you.

>>Committee recessed at 14:11 and
resumed at 14:31

Chairman: Thank you and welcome back.
We’re now to agenda item No. 10,
Members’ general comments and
questions. Before we do that, | just wanted
to ask Mr. Long for clarification. When he
was doing his opening comments, he made
reference to GN departments and GN staff
in terms of training and working with NNI.
I was hoping for a clarification whether he
was speaking generally, including the
Government of Nunavut as well as all the
territorial corporations as well. Mr. Long.

Mr. Long: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. The
answer is yes, that was inclusive of all
departments and Crown corporations that
are involved in procurement. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Long. At this
point, 1’1l open up the floor to Regular

Members to make general comments and
questions. | have starting with Mr. Curley
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on my list. Mr. Curley.

Mr. Curley (interpretation): Thank you.
First of all, I would like to welcome the
people of Nunavut as this is a very
important thing that we’re doing, especially
the NNI Policy and goods and services
provided by the government. There is a
need for improvement in some areas and
some changes required in other areas.

Before we go to the actual report itself, |
would like to make a comment from my
own observations, especially in two areas
with respect to the Nunavut Land Claims
Agreement for the transfer of aboriginal
title to the federal government in exchange
for defined rights as Inuit, some of which
are under Article 24. 1 would like to make a
short comment in English because almost
all the managers don’t understand Inuktitut.
This is related to private businesses and the
preference policies, which | see as
operating in a way different from what was
envisioned in the NLCA. Mr. Chairman,
I’Il switch to English now.

(interpretation ends) Thank you. Welcome,
Mr. Ferguson. Your first appearance is
certainly welcomed by Nunavutmiut, and |
want to invite you again to continue to
come up to Nunavut as we address various
audits of our departments and our
government. We depend on you to make
sure that we comply with the various
contracting procedures as well as getting
the best services and also that funds are
spent appropriately.

I noted that in many of your statements,
you were quite generous, as perhaps most
of the Auditor Generals normally are. |
believe you have indicated in your opening
statements that there have been non-
compliances with some of the provisions,
despite the fact that the report indicated
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that there are no major problems with the
department. We noted that. But the
practices, that the departments are required
to apply procedures, are troublesome. You
put it mildly that they were not always
consistently applied, for instance, with
respect to Article 24 and the accompanying
policy, the NNI Policy.

I want to assure you that since the
beginning of the creation of Nunavut, the
NNI Policy was established in about the
year 2000 right after the founding date.
Since then and up until 2008, it was applied
consistently. There was no major flip-flop
conveniently disregarding provisions being
applied by most of the departments. | can
also feel the pressure to change it within
the bureaucracy, in my humble opinion,
and that is the NNI Policy is a really quite
generous provision, unlike many of the
procurement practices that are tied in with
the aboriginal rights and land claims
agreements.

The NNI Policy is probably most generous.
The labour component, by virtue of being
an Inuit firm, for instance, the discount
provisions are really quite high. Over and
above that, there’s also, once a contract has
been served and the services rendered, if
you exceed the labour component that you
said you were going to apply, if you
exceeded them, you also get a very
generous bonus complement from the
government. So we can understand that the
bureaucracy is somewhat troubled by that
that they want an overhaul, particularly the
people who actually... .

I’m educating you a bit on that. Why is it
not consistently applied? I don’t think it
really has anything to do with the low-level
bureaucrats not consistently applying it. |
think it has to do with the cost factors, that
it’s more convenient to overlook those
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provisions than applying them so that we
can save the government some dollars
because it is very generous.

I think what’s important for me to quote is
that the Nunavut Land Claims Agreement
that is responsible for NNI provisions is
really not just a piece of document that’s
sitting on the shelf and allowed to rot on
the shelf. It is an agreement pursuant to the
Nunavut Land Claims Agreement, section
2.2.1 of the agreement, and | quote, “shall
be a land claims agreement within the
meaning of Section 35 of the Constitution
Act.” So it’s not just a mundane kind of
document.

Article 24, as well, is not just a piece of
reference. It contains a whole slew of
provisions where it actually obligates the
GN to establish policies and procedures
specifically geared towards Inuit
businesses, Inuit firms. Why is there an
Inuit firm specifically 1D’d in Article 24?

Unlike the Inuvialuit Agreement in western
arctic, the Nunavut Land Claims
Agreement... . I’m quoting these just so
that we have some understanding by
comparing them with the other regions. In
the Inuvialuit Land Claims Agreement,
there’s no such thing as Inuit firm status.
They only have one designation: DIO and
that is Inuvialuit. So all the contracts, bids,
and whatnot go to one designation, DIO,
meaning the Inuvialuit Corporation. As
well as in Northern Quebec, they have the
same provision, that the Makivvik
Corporation has a DIO status.

But in Nunavut, we were much more
diversified. So when | took part in the
negotiations, we insisted that “Inuit firm”
should be the category instead of a single
entity like NTI. That was the federal
government’s preference, but we wanted to
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a fair opportunity for Inuit businesses to
have an opportunity to be given the right to
take part in the bidding process as well as
the procurement competition.

So the reason I’m mentioning those is these
are not just mundane kind of articles sitting
on the shelves that the common law
provisions of the procurement can just
override. That is significantly important. In
Nunavut, we have the NNI Policy
developed pursuant to Article 24,
specifically Article 24.3.4, where the GN is
obligated to develop policies and
procedures. So the NNI Policy has been
consulted with the Inuit groups in the year
2000 and developed in consultation with
the DIO, that is, NTI.

Now, the question is: is it going to be
overhauled? If it’s going to be overhauled,
that troubles me a bit because | don’t know
where CG&S would get the authority that
they can change the forms and all of these
so that they can make the procurement
practices and procedures in compliance
with the general laws of common law and
procurement law. | think they should be
geared specifically towards Article 24.

Acrticle 24 is one of the exchanges that we
have with the federal government for
extinguishing our aboriginal title. We
inherited Article 24 as a provision of
economic benefit for Inuit groups. So it
cannot just be passed on to CG&S and they
work with the justice department and make
the various kinds of forms comply with the
common law provisions of so on.

Correctly, | think Mr. Long and his
department should have the lead
responsibility and not take the crumbs left
over from CG&S and go and consult NTI. |
think you should insist, in my opinion, that
you take overall authority and be in charge
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of it. That way, | believe we can make sure
that Article 24 is properly exchanged with
the NTI consultation process.

That, Mr. Chairman, is what | wanted to
make because I think it’s important that we
have an understanding of these provisions
so that we can be respectful to the Nunavut
Land Claims Agreement. (interpretation)
Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Were
you hoping for a response from the Deputy
Minister or after? Okay. Thank you. Next
on my list | have Mr. Enook. Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. Good afternoon, residents
of Pond Inlet. (interpretation ends) Mr.
Ferguson, welcome to the Assembly and
Nunavut with your staff. We appreciate and
enjoy seeing you and working with you.

(interpretation) Mr. Chairman, the question
I wish to ask first is on Mr. Long’s opening
comments. I’m sure you have a copy of
that. There are no page numbers, but it
talks about the NNI Policy. Mr. Chairman,
the question | want to ask... .

Chairman: Excuse me, Mr. Enook, | know
you’re going to be asking a question to, |
believe, the Deputy Minister of ED&T, but
the translation is not actually coming
through. To give him a chance to hear what
the question is, if | could get you to start
over again, Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): In English?
Can you hear me? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. In Mr. Long’s opening
comments, it indicates here that further
steps need to be taken. There are three
specific ones and the one in the middle
states, “The need to ensure that the NNI
Policy is applied consistently across all
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regions and in all departments.” It has to be
applied consistently. (interpretation ends)
“The need to ensure that the NNI Policy is
applied consistently across the region and
from department to department.”
(interpretation) My question is: if it had to
be applied consistently already, why is that
that’s not done so? That’s my question, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Enook. We
will have a shift there with Mr. Long. Do
you want to approach the witness table and
attempt to answer the question? Mr. Long.

Mr. Long: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
guess there are a number of reasons why it
has not been happening that way.

I would recognize, within the NNI
Secretariat, a certain lack of capacity to
provide the training necessary from across
all of the departments that are involved
with procurement and regionally. We are
taking steps to improve this, we have
recognized it as a problem, and we will be
more aggressively providing the training
necessary to ensure that all departments
involved with procurement are
knowledgeable and their staff. | believe
you have heard from my three colleagues
in the commitment to training and bringing
their staff up to standard, they have also
agreed that this is a necessary step and it
will happen.

I can’t undo history or | can’t really explain
why, over a period of 10 years, it has
deteriorated to that point, but that’s a
simple fact that we have found and it has
been discovered by the Auditor General as
well. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Long. Mr.
Enook.
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Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. I would like to thank Mr.
Long. I can’t understand why the
application of the NNI Policy is not being
applied on a consistent basis. The
application seems to be deteriorating
instead of improving. I’m sure it can’t only
be a capacity issue; it is because they don’t
adhere to the laws that should be used. If
the policy is based on a proper foundation,
it can be applied on anything, from my
understanding anyway. | can’t understand
why the application of the NNI Policy is
deteriorating instead of improving. Maybe
Mr. Long can agree with me that there are
many reasons why it’s like that. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Enook. Mr.
Long, do you care to reply?

Mr. Long: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Yes,
there are several reasons why this has
happened. Our commitment now is to make
changes and improve it and make sure that
it is well and fairly applied across the entire
Nunavut territory by all GN staff. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Long. Mr.
Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. For my next question, this
individual 1 wanted to ask is out of the
witness table. Should I wait until he gets to
the witness table or should I ask my
question now?

Chairman: 1 think they will be changing
seats right now, so if you want to ask your
question, Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. | apologize. On page 3 of
the opening comments of the Qullig
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Energy Corporation and also on page 2 of
the Nunavut Housing Corporation’s
opening comments, they are saying the
same thing. | would like to use this as the
basis for my question. The Qulliq Energy
Corporation’s comments state here that
turnover rates are so high that there seems
to be a revolving door of people coming in
and leaving, which results in the loss of
continuity in service delivery. That’s what
it says. The Nunavut Housing
Corporation’s opening comments mention
how their staff is doing other jobs on top of
their daily duties.

Why are the Qulliq Energy Corporation
and the Nunavut Housing Corporation
facing the same situation? How come you
are unable to retain staff? Why is the
turnover rate so high? | would appreciate a
response from either one of these two
entities. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Enook. We
will start with Mr. Mackey.

Mr. Mackey: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
First and foremost, to point out that the
purchasing for the Qullig Energy
Corporation takes part in two areas: one is
the capital component, which works out of
Igaluit, and then the purchasing for the
majority of the O&M components and
large items for the power plants happens
out of Baker Lake. In the 10 years that
we’ve had, we have seen a change in
almost all personnel or completely all
personnel within both of those purchasing
departments. Some of the people have
moved on to other positions within the
corporation, whereas other people have just
moved on to other jobs either within the
GN, federally, or somewhere else.

As it sits right now, in order to try to
stymie the losses and the turnover that we
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see within these departments, we’re
looking at creating positions for people
within who are from Nunavut who will be
put through a full training program to
enable to acquire the necessary skills to be
able to do the proper purchasing,
management, and procurement controls for
the corporation.

Like in any position we have within the
corporation, we see turnover within key
positions as people move on somewhere
else without someone being able to step in
and fill that void. No amount of succession
planning is able to foresee the number of
people and staff turnover that we have. In
order to deal with this issue, we’re looking
at building within the corporation training
and providing the education for people
within the corporation to fill those
positions and reduce the issues that we see
with turnover. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Mackey. Mr.
Barriault.

Mr. Barriault: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
In the Nunavut Housing Corporation’s
case, we have but one position that’s
considered an indeterminate, dedicated
contracting and procurement position and
that is our contract coordinator position
located in Arviat in our head office. That
position now has been vacant for the past
three years and we have been covering
those functions through contracted services
and by hiring of casual staff.

The Nunavut Housing Corporation’s
funding for most of its capital construction
is typically provided or obtained through
the federal government. As such, without a
sustained construction program in the past,
the Nunavut Housing Corporation has had
a hard time, | believe, justifying having
indeterminate positions to do this kind of
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contracting.

As part of our internal review, we are
identifying as well, in conjunction with the
report of the Auditor General of Canada,
that we do have a need that is quite
justifiable to have dedicated staff in these
functions. As such, most of these functions
currently are being provided by our
building inspectors, by our finance staff,
and by people who have other tasks as well
as these. So it is part of their day-to-day job
description, but it is also a competing
priority with other things that they do.

As you may appreciate, someone who is
hired for the skills of inspecting housing
construction may not necessarily have all
of the higher skills that you may expect for
someone who is dedicated in a procurement
position. We recognize that does leave us
susceptible to some risk and we’re taking
measures to address this. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Barriault. Mr.
Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. Thank you for your
responses. I’m sure we will get to ask
further questions, but we’re on general
comments at this time. | want to ask this
last question that was not in the opening
comments, but it’s just for clarification.

In the report of the Auditor General, quite a
number of conclusions are made on what
can only be speculated on, what is not
known about what rules should be applied,
rules that are not followed, existing rules
that are simply not even considered, and
standards that are not applied. My question
is: while all of this is going on within the
Qullig Energy Corporation and also the
Nunavut Housing Corporation, who is
accountable? Who is responsible for all of
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that? If they are not applying the rules,
what would the consequences be?

For example, Mr. Chairman, I’m expected,
as the MLA for the Tununiq Riding, to
work towards their expectations and | am
obliged to do so. I know exactly that if the
voters are dissatisfied with me and I run in
the next election, | definitely will not be
elected.

When the government’s regulations are
straightforward, for example, on
procurement that were not followed here,
who is to blame for allowing this to happen
at the Qullig Energy Corporation or at the
Nunavut Housing Corporation? Who is
accountable? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Enook. I think
this time we will start with the President of
the Nunavut Housing Corporation, Mr.
Barriault.

Mr. Barriault: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Many of the issues that have been
identified may be linked to capacity issues
within our organizations and it does speak
to the general conditions that the GN as a
whole finds itself in, in terms of the ability
to recruit. In many cases, it does result in
some of the rules not being fully followed.
In some cases, it’s a matter of new people
being hired by the corporations or through
the GN not being aware of all of the rules
and processes, and undertaking, such as
this audit, bringing these issues to light.
Once we’re made aware of them, | know I,
as the president and CEO of the Nunavut
Housing Corporation, have a responsibility
to implement the changes to ensure that we
are abiding by the rules and to take the
steps necessary so that we are positioned to
do so.

We do realize that we’re working within
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constraints of staffing and processes. So we
have to be realistic, | suppose, in how we
proceed in this. We can’t necessarily make
all of the changes overnight, but we do
identify the most critical needs and act on
those as expeditiously as possible. Thank
you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Barriault. Mr.
Mackey.

Mr. Mackey: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Within Qulliq Energy, | would like to echo
the comments of my colleague in terms of
the capacity issue. | think there are several
key factors here within Qullig Energy. In
terms of one that we have addressed within
our opening statements and not having an
internal auditor here to identify where there
are deficiencies, one of the key things
within Qullig Energy was the adoption of a
proper framework, which is something that
Qullig Energy is going to be working on
now.

Unfortunately, we’re in the same boat as
the Nunavut Housing Corporation. We
have two new staff who are purchasing
managers who have only just recently
started and will be beginning to learn the
contracting and procurement system within
the framework of the Government of
Nunavut as we move forward. So it’s a
systemic sort of thing in regard to capacity.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Mackey. Mr.
Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you. Do
I understand correctly then that the Qulliq
Energy Corporation and the Nunavut
Housing Corporation presidents are not
accountable for issues that arise such as
this, that all of these issues arise from lack
of staff or capacity? Is that how I
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understood it? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Enook.
President of Qulliq Energy, Mr. Mackey.

Mr. Mackey: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
No. The correct way to put it is the
president of the Qulliq Energy Corporation
is absolutely responsible for all of the
operations that happen within the
organization. In this case, the findings of
the audit, the president of the corporation
accepts the responsibility of them and also
accepts the responsibility of adhering with
the recommendations that flow from the
audit and certainly the creation of an action
plan that meets all the obligations within
those recommendations. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Mackey. Mr.
Barriault.

Mr. Barriault: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Likewise, as the chief executive officer for
the housing corporation, | do have the
ultimate responsibility and authority on the
operations of the corporation. As such, we
have accepted the recommendations of the
Auditor General of Canada and we
recognize that there are some systemic
issues that take time and processes to
follow to have all of them to be changed.
So | am accountable to ensuring that the
necessary changes and processes to affect
changes are initiated. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. | also would like to quote
from the first page of the opening
comments of the president of the Qulliq
Energy Corporation. I asked this question
during our meeting this morning for
clarification on the three main problems or
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what appear to be the reasons why the
government’s rules are not applied. The
first one is defining the rules that should be
followed. I’ll quote in English.
(interpretation ends) “...the
misinterpretation of the rules,
(interpretation) staff shortage and the lack
of training. My first question is: is it
realistic or is it just an excuse for the
failure to properly interpret the rules?

Maybe if | rephrase it. The Department of
Community and Government Services is
the lead department for tendering. For
example, since Qulliq Energy doesn’t have
its own policies, they’re applying CGS
policies instead at the present time. What
does this mean? What is causing a lack of
comprehension or a uniform interpretation
of the rules? I am asking why there’s a
mutual lack of comprehension, even
though you work together. You state
clearly that there’s misinterpretation of the
rules. Don’t you work together when it
comes to tendering? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Enook. | think
it was taken from the president of the
Qullig Energy Corporation’s opening
comments. Mr. Mackey.

Mr. Mackey: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Just for clarification, QEC has its own
procurement department which is stationed
in Baker Lake and doesn’t work alongside
of CGS or hasn’t leading up until now.
That’s one of the items that we are working
with CGS in terms of working more closely
with them for clearer understanding of the
framework that’s utilized by the
Government of Nunavut for procurement,
contracting, and leasing. We’re also
utilizing their resources to get training for
our individuals and new employees as they
come in to ensure that we are in
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compliance with that framework as it sits
right now and that the employees that we
have fully understand the rules within that
framework. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Mackey. For
me, | know one of the things that Mr.
Enook was sort of referring to is the idea of
consequences. Some of the same issues, as
is pointed out by the Auditor General, |
think we’re going back as far as 2004,
where some of these issues were evident
then and they’re still evident and there
doesn’t seem to be much progress.

I think I’ll direct this question to all three
of the witnesses before us. In terms of
consequences, has anyone in either of your
departments or corporations been
reprimanded, disciplined, or fired for not
acting in compliance with the application
of the rules and policies under which
they’re supposed to be following? Thank
you. | believe I’ll start with the Deputy
Minister of CGS, Ms. Lausman.

Ms. Lausman: Thank you, Mr. Chairman,
for the question. Frankly, the amount of
business that’s transacted within the GN,
certainly in procurement, is huge.
Procurement is actually transacted within
CGS out of four different offices and four
different purposes. Goods, services, and
construction; there are different
applications for all three types of
procurement. Goods are pretty
straightforward, services typically involve
RFP documents, which are a little more
complex, and construction is even more
different and complex.

There is certainly not any witnessed
deliberate misinterpretation of the rules or
misapplication of process. Folks are
predominately doing more than one task.
For instance, in construction, they’re
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focused on getting construction work
designed and built and there’s a
multiplicity of contracts involved in that.
They are frequently under time constraints,
which are perhaps one of the reasons that
we get so many requests to sole source,
because folks are running out of time to
meet sealift, and so on.

So the process that we take is some internal
auditing relative to various files in
procurement. We do that internally and we
seek to constantly improve practices that
we see taking place in various offices to
ensure that the staff understands what’s
important and how to address it, not
ignoring the fact that we do have to get
other things done and accomplished, and
procurement is a methodology to do that.

We’re also looking to put in place different
training programs and recognize that these
need to be ongoing training programs. As
mentioned by my two colleagues, every
department is challenged with capacity and
turnover, and that, understandably, takes
even more training and process building,
and so on, which leads to the double
jeopardy of you need people to train
because you have turnover and you have
turnover, so you need people to train.

It’s a very complex issue and it’s not
certainly addressed by one tactic. It’s a
concerted effort that we need to seek to
bring the correct talent into the government
so that they can hit the ground running, we
can train other folks, we can approach staff,
and that we put processes in place that
facilitate getting work done properly and
within the time constraints that typically
we need to address through sealift and
short construction seasons, and so on.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

A bit of a lengthy answer, but this is a very
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complex and difficult process.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Lausman. I’'m
assuming you’re saying no in terms of the
answer. That brings back the question sort
of implying what Mr. Enook was saying
was what’s changing within the process to
make sure that it doesn’t happen again if it
continues to keep happening over and over
again. The direct question | was hoping to
find out is: do you do performance
evaluations on your employees to be able
to maybe help coach them in finding out
what training is missing? Maybe you
evaluate what they have done wrong, not to
physically reprimand them but to help them
actually become better employees. Ms.
Lausman.

Ms. Lausman: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
That’s an excellent question. I’ll speak for
my department specifically. We have a
very deliberate performance development
program as well as performance
management. Not only do we identify
shortcomings in training plans; we also
celebrate successes and things that
employees do well. We’re trying to build
within CGS a culture of coaching as well
as training. In order to really be effective
with that, it’s important that we have
recognition of successes that staff do so
that that kind of approach can be passed on
to new staff or for staff that are needing a
little more extra guidance. We look at
short-term training. We also look at longer
term career and succession planning, and
we try to do that in the context of a vacancy
rate of probably 25 percent per year on
average. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Lausman.
Getting back to the question about
consequences where any employee has
been reprimanded, disciplined, or fired for
not following actions, | would like to pose
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that question to the president of the Qullig
Energy Corporation. Mr. Mackey.

Mr. Mackey: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Specific to the findings within this audit,
there hasn’t been anyone that has been
reprimanded. If, through the course of the
audit, we were able to find where there was
an intentional misinterpretation or
intentional breaking of the rules to lead to a
certain outcome, we certainly would have
followed through with a reprimand and
progressive discipline. The findings, as I’'m
aware, nothing like that occurred. It clearly
comes down to the lack of training in terms
of misinterpretation of the rules. The
individuals acted with the clear intention to
do what was right based on their
understanding. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Mackey. Now
for the President of the Nunavut Housing
Corporation, Mr. Barriault.

Mr. Barriault: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Likewise, with the Nunavut Housing
Corporation, in terms of the findings of the
Auditor General of Canada, there were
again no instances of deliberate
misinterpretation or wrongdoing in terms
of following of rules.

Generally what was occurring is people
were following what the common standard
practices were and were not aware of any
deviation from the rules. Once these were
brought to their attention and proper
training and advice brought forward,
corrections have been made to those
practices. As such, we don’t believe in
punishing someone for not knowingly
doing something wrong if they believe that
they were, in fact, performing at their best.
So we give people the opportunity to learn
and correct their behaviours.
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In cases where it was longstanding
practices that needed correction, then
clarity has been provided and those
practices have been changed. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Barriault. The
next name | have on my list is Mr. Ningark.
Mr. Ningark, if you have general
comments.

Mr. Ningark (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. | thank the officials from
the Office of the Auditor General. We have
been elected to represent our constituents
and to ensure that the government runs
properly. Our finances, after all, are
provided by the electorate across Nunavut
and Canada. Officials from the Office of
the Auditor General assist us in how to
better serve our constituents and how the
government can run more efficiently within
its finances.

The Standing Committee of the Legislative
Assembly agrees with the findings of the
Auditor General. We also agree with the
results that came out of their auditing the
Qullig Energy Corporation. In regard to
CGS, there were comments made and we
also agree with the findings of the Office of
the Auditor General, as well as with the
findings on the Nunavut Housing
Corporation. If we had to agree with all the
recommendations, | doubt we could move
forward.

I find myself asking: where are we now?
Just before 1999, we were expecting that
once Nunavut becomes a reality, aboriginal
businesses would be recognized with the
implementation of the land claims
agreement. That was our expectation, Mr.
Chairman. Under the land claims
agreement, whenever jobs are created
under Atrticle 24, training would be
provided so that Inuit can work for the
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government. Stated in English as the
transitional phase, that is where we were at
that point.

Ten years has now passed within Nunavut.
According to the Auditor General’s
findings, the implementation of the NNI
Policy is still incomplete. Article 24 still
hasn’t been implemented within the
Nunavut government. We hear about the
things that need improvement and we just
accept it at that. It seems we’re still in the
transitional phase. We have been a
government for the past 10 years now, so
we need to make renewed efforts to move
forward.

In regard to contracting, Mr. Chairman, we
really have to monitor the government’s
spending, including its procurement
contracts. Procurement contract objectives
should be clearly stated and | urge that they
be fully transparent within the departments.
(interpretation ends) Mr. Chairman, under
the objectives of the government, it is
incumbent upon CGS, being a lead
department in overseeing procurement
contracts, to maintain current and accurate
information and to ensuring effective
approaches to meet the GN’s requirements
across the board.

Yet we, the politicians and bureaucracy,
have to be reminded from the Office of the
Auditor General of Canada that it is a tool
that allows us to ensure that we hold the
government of the day to account. They
keep reminding us and we haven’t done
anything at all to make improvements
under the NNI Policy, to respect Article 24
under the land claims agreement between
the people of Nunavut and the Government
of Canada. Under Article 24, Mr.
Chairman, it states that the government
“shall provide reasonable support and
assistance to Inuit firms...in order to
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enable them to compete for government
contracts.” Yes, it is stated. It is written in
stone, but we failed to a certain degree to
respect that for Nunavummiut.

(interpretation) Mr. Chairman, the Office
of the Auditor General has given some
tools to work with and we just agree with
these recommendations. (interpretation
ends) Yes, we agree. We are continuing to
make improvements. We hear that from
different departments and agencies.
(interpretation) Why?

As Mr. Enook said, why aren’t we going
forward? Why does it seem like we aren’t
making improvements? We have been
asking those questions and no progress has
been made. We must do something today.
We have to look at the report of the
Auditor General not just for today but also
for tomorrow. During our next session in
May, we will have to adopt them. Who
should implement them? Qullig or Nunavut
Housing Corporation or CGS? No, all of
us. That includes us as the MLAs. We need
to be pushed by the people and we all have
to work together to tackle this issue.

Once we go page by page, | will have some
more comments. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I will stop here for now.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ningark. Next
on my list I have Mr. Curley.

Mr. Curley (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Mr. Chairman, | just
want to take advantage of Mr. Ferguson; |
believe he is here only for today. That’s my
understanding. If not, I can focus on the
departmental officials. | do have questions
with respect to departmental officials on
training as well. That game plan is not over
yet.
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With respect to the Auditor General being
here, | want to ask a question to you. In
your office’s 2004 report to the Assembly,
you recommended that, and I quote, “All
departments should review their practices
to ensure that...government contracting
procedures are understood and followed”
and that “key documents of all types are
filed and indexed in a manner which allow
them to be located and retrieved readily.”
At that time, the Government of Nunavut’s
response to your office report indicated that
it would ensure, and | quote, “contracting
procedures are understood and followed
and key documents are retained and filed.”

In your view, has the Government of
Nunavut’s performance in the area of
contracting grown stronger or weaker since
the submission of your 2004 report? Thank
you, Iksivautaag.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Mr.
Ferguson.

Mr. Ferguson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
This audit was not a follow-up specifically
of our 2004 audit. However, as the Hon.
Member has identified, Mr. Chairman, we
found a number of similar problems to
what we found in 2004. | do also want to
point out that the audit indicated that there
were some good practices happening as
well. Particularly, we identified that for
Community and Government Services, all
of the competitive contracts that we
examined followed the rules. However,
there were weaknesses across the board,
particularly in the areas of sole source
contracts.

I can’t specifically relate this to whether
the situation has gotten better or worse
since 2004 because that wasn’t the
objective of the audit, but I can certainly
agree that some of the same problems
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remain. It’s important for those problems
and those weaknesses to be improved. | am
encouraged by the response given from
each of the agencies that they recognize
and agree with our recommendations and
they acknowledge that these are problems
that need to be dealt with. Again, | can’t
make the specific comment as to how it
relates specifically to 2004.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ferguson. Mr.
Curley.

Mr. Curley: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
believe that the responses to your
recommendations with respect to sole
source certainly were agreed to by most of
the departmental officials. Are you satisfied
with their responses so far, that they will
undertake to correct and prevent and do all
they can to correct some of the deficiencies
that they have used in terms of going on
sole source contracts rather than going on a
competitive process? Thank you,
Iksivautaag.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Mr.
Ferguson.

Mr. Ferguson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Just to set the record straight, my plan is to
be here tomorrow morning as well.

Again, I’m certainly encouraged by the
response from each of the agencies. They
have accepted our recommendations. They
have acknowledged that these problems
exist, so that’s a good thing. I also expect
that the individuals from the organizations
wouldn’t look forward to being here some
time in the future about explaining why
these things haven’t been fixed, so | expect
that they will take these things seriously. |
think it’s why it’s important for this
Committee to receive an action plan or
action plans from each of the organizations
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about how and what timeline that they
expect to be able to deal with some of these
situations.

Again, | think, fundamentally, the response
that we received is an encouraging
response. In turn, we encourage the
organizations to make sure that they take
these seriously and implement the
necessary improvements. | think that this
Committee can also play a role in making
sure that these organizations do, in fact,
make the improvements that need to be
made.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ferguson. Mr.
Curley.

Mr. Curley: Thank you. I’m not sure
which particular page, but you did allude
that there was no clear rationale or whatnot
or procedures in place for justifying
whether a sole source should be applied for
a particular contract given a certain amount
of the authority that each contracting
department has. Could you maybe give us
some clarification on exactly what you
mean or in what way could the departments
improve by having a clear set of policy
guidelines that would guide them, whether
or not this is justifiable to use sole source
methods instead of the competitive
process? Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Mr.
Ferguson.

Mr. Ferguson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The primary responsibility when moving
towards a sole source contract is there
needs to be justification and justification
under the legislation. The particular
department or organization needs to make
sure that if they are going for a sole source
contract, they can explain why the reason
for a sole contract is compliant with the
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underlying legislation, policies, and
procedures. So it’s really a matter of
making sure that the organization is fully
explaining the reason they need to go for a
sole source contract and that that is
compliant with the regulations and the
policies.

I think, though, Mr. Chairman, if you will
indulge me, 1 will also pass it on to Mr.
Campbell to add anything else that he
thinks needs to be added.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ferguson. Mr.
Campobell.

Mr. Campbell: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Yes, we’re having a discussion about
specific rules and following them. | think,
slightly broader than that, people need to
manage towards those rules rather than just
sort of deal with the rule when they see it.
For example, Mr. Chairman, it’s obvious
that when something is urgently needed,
then there’s an avenue to follow sole
source. So if you’re in that situation as a
bureaucrat and it’s urgently needed, then
you have a sole source option.

However, sometimes it’s a question of
planning. If planning is done properly, you
don’t put yourself in that urgent situation.
So that’s a bit of a nuance to the thing
there, but I think that there are the rules,
but there is how you manage towards those
rules and I think that needs to be kept in
mind as well. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Campbell. Mr.
Curley.

Mr. Curley: Thank you. Mr. Chairman, in
paragraph 32, it’s stated quite clearly that,
for instance, CG&S “did not award 4 of 7
sole-source contracts procured for itself
and 3 of the 6 awarded on behalf of other
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departments, according to the rules.” Qulliq
Energy did not award any of its 12 sole
source contracts. The Nunavut Housing
Corporation awarded 1 of the 12 sole
source contracts according to the rules.

In paragraph 34, the Auditor General’s
office indicated that “The Contracting
Procedures Manual states that the use of
the sole-source method must be approved
by the Deputy Minister for contracts over
$5,000.” My question is this: the ones that
you examined, some of which | quoted,
were they approved by the Deputy
Ministers? Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. We’re
still on general comments, but Mr.
Ferguson.

Mr. Ferguson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Given that it’s a specific question about the
items we examined, | think 1’1l ask Jo Ann

to answer that question.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ferguson. Ms.
Schwartz.

Ms. Schwartz: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I think that we saw a variety of reasons
why we had given the ratings that we did in
paragraph 32 of why the sole source
contracts weren’t complied with. Yes, for
some of the contracts that we looked at, the
reason was because it wasn’t properly
authorized by the Deputy Minister or the
president.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Schwartz. Mr.
Curley.

Mr. Curley: Thank you. Mr. Chairman, |
am aware that we are under general
comments, but it also has questions in the
agenda.

bDGENCYNINC a2 Al HnASNPdC
beDGeNCY D>IC JCHISTe Le®DNC L LAC.

PY<lo 34-T DSbYLNHo
CLLSP LD NedS Qb AL Cbdd
beDGeNC/ oS ID®CHLC Qv eC>N<SbSLC
Dt [o“CAC $5,000 >*LCao<C,
AASINLE CAPI SPISPcD>eCNE Ced<
D>Sb>YN.GCHCL Ac >N Cbdd
QPPCPEAQ  P<LE Dot [ CH<?
sdyal™®.

AbY<PCSe OLNNNYO): sd*al®, C dc. Ac
Ceda*L DSb>YIAQ &PbeC. MC LN,

SUNe ONMNJC): Sdyeal™, AYRDPCS®, A,
Coa <dASNNed CAPIL SPISPc D>SeCDC
Cbdd << DSbeNNPJ*@®CS, CAT™L

P>N=J.

Ab/PCSe OLMNJO): sdy®al™®, C Srhe,
M A24C,

A2C OLANUC): SdY%al™, AbYRUDCSe,
APt ARCPYo Cde DPDJC CAbo
DSbLSAL 32-0®° bGP I PbIC

Lo DL LC Ac™Pe CAbI< beDe_¢
SPISPCPDOCDC G oCPCIse/ L PoPLLC,
4*UNb 5o D<o 5%a € [oC.

Ab/<RPBC OLMNJC): Sd®al™, AD<C. C
dc.

de OLNNNJ9): Sdbal™. Ab/<P>C, Cbdd
SH>ALLYD, DSHD>YIA%Q SaPbH<®IJC QL
<AA®INPNSHSTUL.

49




I’m trying to get clarification. The office
conducting the audit indicated, according to
paragraph 34, that “the manual is not
explicit on whether the sole-source
justification to be approved by the
initiating department...” Can | ask the
Auditor General’s office or the Auditor
General: what should be done with this
particular... ? How can it be clarified and
what specific kind of suggestions, if any,
would you offer rather than leaving it with
the department whether or not they should
improve it? Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Mr.
Ferguson.

Mr. Ferguson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Campbell will answer this question,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ferguson. Mr.
Campbell.

Mr. Campbell: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The question is in relation to it not being
explicit without the justification that is to
be approved by the initiating department or
by CGS. It seems to be common practice
that the initiating department does it, but
the fact is that it’s not clear. If | can just
give an opinion, it’s never a good thing
when things are not clear when it comes to
assigning roles and responsibilities.

I think it’s probably better to ask the
Deputy Ministers present, but my sense is
they’re comfortable with the common
practice that is in the initiating department.
Nonetheless, as we can see, things can go
wrong and it’s always appropriate that
people don’t just interpret the rules in a
way that they’re comfortable with, but the
rules should be clear. Whatever way the
government wants to go on that, it’s up to
the government, but | think there’s good
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value in clarifying that. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Campbell. Mr.
Curley.

Mr. Curley: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. If
I may ask the Deputy Minister of CG&S
whether or not she recalls signing on behalf
of the other department that’s requesting a
service, or have you ever recommended
they go sole source on a particular service
required? Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Ms.
Lausman.

Ms. Lausman: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
That is a really good question. CGS tends
not to encourage sole sourcing and we
certainly encourage that all departments
look to limit sole sourcing. They do run the
business of their department and it is
ultimately our belief that if a department
needs, for instance, a certain goods or
services that are critical to their program
delivery, we would encourage that, for all
intents and purposes, they seek a
competitive way to provide that. At the end
of the day, they are responsible for
choosing to sole source and for
documenting the reason to sole source.
CGS then receives a requisition file from
them with that documentation, and then
CGS goes on to procure.

It is not a practice at CGS that I’m aware of
to sign off on sole source procurement for
other departments. It is really up to that
department to make that decision. We
discourage it and we encourage them to put
in place standing offer agreements, if that’s
appropriate, to limit the need for sole
sourcing. However, it’s not always
appropriate and they are responsible and
accountable for delivering on their
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programs and making those decisions.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Lausman.
Back to the agenda, No. 10, we’re still on
Members’ general comments and
questions. | have Mr. Ningeongan on my
list. Mr. Ningeongan.

Mr. Ningeongan: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I’m not so sure if my
microphone is on because it’s a little
different in this corner here.

Based on the information that I got from
the opening comments, it appears that the
Government of Nunavut has an appropriate
procurement framework in place. There
was an issue brought up more than once
that pertains to staff turnover being one of
the initial problems that we have. | would
be quite interested as to how this particular
part could be rectified.

I do realize that people will come in and go
type of thing, but for the long term, how
can we possibly retain something that
would be more consistent so that the
practices that the government exercises will
not be jeopardized in that regard? I would
be very interested in finding out what the
potential solution would be to that in order
to just enhance a framework, as indicated
by the Auditor General, which is already in
place.

Mr. Chairman, | just want to stress that |
think we have to be careful in determining
whether or not we’re just escalating
something that’s quite minimal. If we took
time to make sure that staff are hired, as
based on the opening comments that were
given to the Committee, if we render that,
then that’s solving half of the problems that
we have incurred along the way. A simple
solution seems to be to hire the staff that is
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required to run the business. As simple as |
am, that seems to be the simple, logical
thing to do. If we did that, then we would
have no problem or problems are
minimized then.

So I would be quite interested to see who
has the solution, maybe around the table, as
to what should be done in order to maintain
more consistency with the procurement
requirements that need to be laid out by the
government. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ningeongan.
We will start with the Deputy Minister of
CGS, Ms. Lausman.

Ms. Lausman: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
That’s an excellent question. I, too, feel
very simplistic about the approach to this.
Sometimes it’s just exactly that. When you
want the correct things done, you hire the
people with the talent to do that. Certainly
we’re challenged constantly with capacity
and we certainly have an awful lot of
dedicated employees who are very
committed to not only doing what we ask
them to do but doing more than we ask
them to do and putting in an awful lot of
time to make things happen.

| probably should defer to the OAG
because capacity building in the GN was a
subject of an earlier audit. | believe it was
in 2009-2010 and the OAG left the GN
with a considerable number of
recommendations as to how we could
improve on that as well. | think, certainly
from my department’s perspective, we
can’t look at these things in isolation
because they do impact on each other. So
whether it is procurement and being the
best at procurement that we can be or
whether it’s project management or
whether it’s teaching or anything else, we
need the right talent and we need a
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commitment by that talent to stay for the
longer term and to make a difference.

Most of what CGS does, and I’ll speak
more to it, is longer term projects. It’s very
difficult to have consistency and continuity
when, in the midst of a project, you have
personnel that changes two or three times.
With all good practices, even documenting,
in the midst of completing a file, and you
have to hand over a file, paperwork is in
different places because it’s being worked
on. So these are all challenges that speak to
the need for talented capacity and the need
for longevity and the ability then to train
more folks to plan succession in a logical
timeframe. There are constant challenges.

Beyond appreciating the recommendations
from the OAG on building capacity and |
know, working with my colleagues over
the last two and a half years, we’re working
at improving that and it’s taking time.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Lausman.
Next, we will have the President of the
Nunavut Housing Corporation, Mr.
Barriault.

Mr. Barriault: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I think the Hon. Member is correct in
stating that quite a bit of the problems we
have been encountering are really tied to
the fact that we don’t have the resources to
do the job properly. If we could hire the
quantity and the skill level of staff required
to undertake these tasks, then | truly
believe that quite a bit of our problems
would disappear in those areas and in a
number of other areas as well.

Really, it’s a matter of recruitment and

retention, and that has been an ongoing
challenge not just for Nunavut but for a
number of other Canadian jurisdictions.
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Some of the skill sets that we’re trying to
recruit are very much in demand not just
throughout Canada but throughout the
world at this point and there’s a limited
amount of people who have these skills.

So part of what we’re looking at doing is to
provide the training for those who would
like to acquire the skills, as well as trying
to recruit the people who already have the
skills to act as trainers. Again, the
recruitment and the retention is the
challenge. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Barriault. Now
for the President of the Qullig Energy
Corporation, Mr. Mackey.

Mr. Mackey: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
also echo the comments of my colleagues
here and the Member and also the findings
of the auditor’s report. It’s clearly evident
within our exit interview process. Within
the corporation, we see employees that
leave who speak about the volume of work
that they’ve had in their tenure with QEC
and the fact that that volume of work
precludes their ability to actually even do
training or spend more time in learning the
framework that they’re supposed to be
working under just by the pure volume.

In recognition of these comments, QEC has
increased the capacity within their
procurement department and to split some
of the responsibility. This is tied to the
action plan that we have in terms of
securing a framework and the training
necessary for people to understand the
framework and then deliver on that
framework.

We hope that with the increased capacity as
well as growing within, identifying staff,
we can promote from within to educate and
train so that when a turnover does occur,
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we have someone who is already available
to step into those shoes and certainly to fill
it in the short term or even long term.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Mackey. Mr.
Ningeongan.

Mr. Ningeongan (interpretation): Thank
you, Mr. Chairman. I’m sure you can hear
me. Just for further clarification, I just want
to make a brief comment. Some of us have
been watching a lot of hockey lately. When
a player is sent to the penalty box, the
remaining players find themselves working
that much harder

We seem to be in a similar situation. The
person sitting in the penalty box could
otherwise have been contributing to the
team effort, but instead, his team mates are
forced to work harder. Chronic staff
shortage means added responsibilities for
the remaining employees. That causes a
cascade of more hurdles to overcome and |
believe it will lead to going nowhere.

I believe my colleagues and | have to lobby
harder to build capacity and training. We
know that’s what we have to do. We must
work together so that we don’t overwork or
burn out the present staff we have. They’re
going to burn out at the end if they don’t
get the additional help required just like the
four players with a team mate sitting out in
the penalty box.

I think that has to be realized by our
government. It is evident that working
better together to build capacity that will
lighten the burden on our staff is a no-
brainer. | want to work harder with my
colleagues so that we no longer are just
treading water and provide the service
expected of us by Nunavummiut and that
which is consistent.
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That’s it for now, Mr. Chairman. Thank
you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ningeongan.
One of the things that quite a few of the
Members have been bringing up is the idea
of and some of the answers we have been
receiving are the fact that this has been
audited before and there was supposed to
be progress made. Sometimes we don’t
know whether we’re moving forward or
actually slipping back.

I know that when this Committee held
hearings last year for the review of HR
within the Government of Nunavut and
then the previous year with the Nunavut
Housing Corporation, we were provided
with a detailed action plan as to what the
department or the corporation was going to
be doing in response to the
recommendations. So far, we haven’t
received them.

To me, | think that is one thing that might
help us as Regular Members and
Committee Members to see where the
Government of Nunavut and the
corporations are going to try and help fill
these gaps. Those are some of the questions
I see coming out here, what your
departments will be doing and what the
corporations will be doing.

If I could ask all three of you: is there a
detailed action plan that is coming that will
be tabled or will we be able to see it before
the end of this hearing? I’ll start with the
Deputy Minister of CGS, Ms. Lausman.

Ms. Lausman: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
We have certainly developed a draft action
plan and we have started to put that action
plan into action. That has begun with some
process changes around various
observations that the OAG made.
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One in particular has to do with
certification of funding on certain
contracting practices and that’s really
documenting a file in the proper order. We
have already changed processes to ensure
that that’s taking place. We continue to
look to put in place standing offer
agreements to limit the number of urgent
requirements to contract and then resort to
sole sourcing.

We have already begun training and | think
both my colleagues referred to that earlier.
Today, in fact, there was a significant
training effort that was underway between
departments and agencies, and that’s the
beginning of a continuous training plan that
needs to be out there and practised all the
time. For us, we know that it’s not simply
just a training opportunity; it’s a
continuous, ongoing training commitment.

We are also putting together some training
around sole source contracting, not how to
sole source contract, folks know how to do
that quite well, but how to avoid sole
source contracting and to actually use it as
a tool for the right purpose. We have also
started to look at just improving processes
so that not only can we train folks but that
they will have a reference that they can go
to when they’re actually practising.

That’s the beginnings of some of our action
plan, and we certainly would be pleased to
provide updates on that and a little more
definitive detail as we actually set actions
in place to address recommendations.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Lausman. By
the spring sitting, will the Minister be able
to table it? I’m just wondering: when will
we actually get something in our hands that
we could... ? To me, what we do is they’re
valuable to us, where it gives us a tool to be
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able to check back and then also provide
either or oral questions to follow up to the
Minister and make sure these steps are
being followed. It also helps with our
recommendations for our report as well.
Any commitment as to a date? Ms.
Lausman.

Ms. Lausman: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I think we can certainly do that. We have
started already and I don’t think it will be
an exhaustive plan because we will keep
adjusting it as we go forward so that we’re
continuously improving. | don’t see any
reason at all why we couldn’t have
something to report on more definitively to
the House in the June session. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Lausman.
Next, the President of the Qulliq Energy
Corporation, Mr. Mackey.

Mr. Mackey: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The Qullig Energy Corporation is in the
same situation in terms of having created a
draft action plan, which is tied to the
recommendations from the Auditor
General’s report, with specific actions and
specific deadlines for those actions to be
completed. | have referenced a couple of
those in my responses today. | certainly can
work to have a copy of that draft action
plan made available for Standing
Committee Members to review at some
point, for sure. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Mackey. Mr.
Barriault, President of the Nunavut
Housing Corporation.

Mr. Barriault: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The Nunavut Housing Corporation’s
actions as a result of this audit report, for
the most part, are already incorporated
within the report in terms of the NHC’s
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responses to the recommendations. As
such, our action began as part of the audit
process well before the report came out. As
issues were identified, we took action
immediately to rectify situations. For
example, the order of signatures on the
expense vouchers and some of the
documentation requirements in files were
things that were identified and dealt with
immediately. As well, we have since
created a term position to lead the
implementation of the recommendations.

One of the key things that we have
identified, really, as a key component of
our actions is to ensure continuity. So as
we have staff turnover, which we expect
will continue, hopefully not as frequently
as in the past, we need to have some
established standards and guidelines in
place so that continuity in the application
of the purchasing policies and guidelines
does continue.

Similar to what we have done in a number
of our other program areas, we are
completing right now the development of
the Contract Administration Manual, which
takes the procurement framework of the
GN and applies it directly to our business
operations as well as to the LHOs. So there
are guidelines as to how to apply that in the
different situations that are part of our daily
business.

So we do have this put in the draft action
plan at this point, but it is effectively a
recap of what are already responses within
the OAG report. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Barriault. Next
on my list for general comments | have Mr.
Ningark.

Mr. Ningark: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
will have a question for the Qulliq
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corporation. In the Government of
Nunavut’s procurement activity report
tabled in 2010-11, one of the objectives of
this department is “Maintaining current and
accurate information.”

When | read the opening remarks by the
Office of the Auditor General of Canada,
item 12 on page 2, and | read and | quote,
“For contract administration, we found that
the Qulliq Energy Corporation lacked
evidence that key controls were applied.
We are concerned that the corporation does
not have the basic,” and I underline basic,
“information needed to adequately manage
the contracts it has awarded.” And |
continue to read, “For example, it does not
know how much it has paid against each
contract or how much remains to be done
for each contract. Without this information,
the corporation is at risk of not getting
what it has contracted for or paying for
goods and services it has not received.”
Yet, according to the objectives of CG&S,
“Maintaining current and accurate
information” is a keynote.

Now | direct your attention to the statement
in the opening remarks by the Quillig
Energy Corporation, page 1, [third]
paragraph, “Mr. Chairman, while the
Department of Community and
Government Services is the primary
contracting and procurement arm of the
Government of Nunavut, Qullig Energy is
responsible for the administration of its
own contracting and procurement.

At the time of this procurement audit, the
Auditor General noted that QEC did not
have its own contracting and procurement
framework, policies, or procedures in
place. The corporation is currently
developing a QEC-specific procurement
framework based on the GN’s model, with
appropriate modifications that meet the
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needs of a revenue-generating Crown
utility.”

Mr. Chairman, isn’t the Qullig corporation
working or communicating with CG&S at
all? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ningark.
President of the Qullig Energy
Corporation, Mr. Mackey.

Mr. Mackey: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The Qullig Energy Corporation did indeed
not have an identified QEC-specific
procurement framework during the process
of this audit.

QEC was following, although not having it
formally adopted by the board of the Qulliq
Energy Corporation, the GN procurement
framework. Moving forward, Qullig
Energy has identified the need for a
procurement framework specific to Qullig
Energy. We anticipate that under our action
plan, that procurement framework will be
prepared and presented to the board in June
of this year for adoption.

Moving forward with the implementation
of this procurement framework, the Qulliq
Energy Corporation will communicate
extensively with Community and
Government Services in terms of assessing
the training resources and materials that
they have for providing training on the
QEC framework to all of its employees.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Mackey. Mr.
Ningark.

Mr. Ningark: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The Qullig Energy Corporation recognizes
that the Department of Community and
Government Services is the primary and
lead department when it comes to
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negotiating the procurement within the
system, even with the Qulliq Energy
Corporation. They have tabled reports back
in 2010 and 2011 that they recognize, in
their objectives, that “Maintaining current
and accurate information” is, in fact, a very
important objective in the department.

Having recognized Community and
Government Services as being a lead
department, 1 would imagine that Qullig
Energy would have communicated with
that department and know that maintaining
current and accurate information is critical
and crucially very important. I’m
wondering why the Qulliq corporation is
still working to develop information and a
framework for their procurement activities.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ningark. Mr.
Mackey.

Mr. Mackey: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The Qullig Energy Corporation handles all
of its own procurement activities separate
from CGS, utilizing its own staff and
resources to do that procurement. To this
point, the Qullig Energy Corporation was
utilizing the GN procurement framework,
although yet, they had not provided this
procurement framework to the board for its
approval and direction.

Moving forward, the Qullig Energy
Corporation recognizes the need to have
some specific aspects of their framework
which deals with a revenue-generating
corporation enclosed within it. This is the
process that’s ongoing right now with the
committee within the Qulliq Energy
Corporation, reviewing all of the legislative
requirements under the FAA, looking at
FAM and any other legislative or legal
requirements in terms of developing a
QEC-specific purchasing and procurement
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framework. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Mackey. |
have a question to the Auditor General and
it’s in regard to the opening comments. No.
7 on your comments, you stated,
“However, we noted elements of the
framework that needed to be improved. For
example, there is a need for clearer
direction and timely training on applying
the NNI Policy. We found that the policy is
applied inconsistently across and within the
entities.” | was hoping to get some
clarification.

I don’t know whether the audit determined
this or not, but it was alluded to that by not
following the NNI Policy, Inuit firms were
excluded from getting contracts that maybe
they should have. When you were doing
the audit, was it determined that Inuit firms
did not receive contracts because NNI was
not followed or did it go the other way, that
maybe Inuit firms did receive contracts
because NNI was not followed? I’'m just
wondering if your audit had made that
determination. Thank you. Mr. Ferguson.

Mr. Ferguson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I’ll turn this over as well to somebody else
to help me out.

I think, in general terms, first of all, we did
find that the NNI Policy was not
consistently followed and, really, we found
that in a number of areas; for example,
making sure that there was documentation
of verification that the organizations were
properly registered within that registry of
companies, making sure that there were
proper training plans in place, then also the
question of just sort of the consistency and
how everyone was applying the policy, and
then finally the issue of ensuring that
clauses like bonuses and penalties were
properly applied.
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In terms of whether we got down to the
actual impact on that in terms of specific
individual companies, | will ask Michelle if
she can add anything further to it.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ferguson. Ms.
Salvail.

Ms. Salvail: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
just want to say that in the sample of
contracts we looked at and where the NNI
Policy could have been applied, we didn’t
find instances where it would have made a
difference if the policy would not have
been applied. So we didn’t see any
instances where, for example, contracting
went to the wrong proponent. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Salvail. Next
is point No. 12 on page 2. Again with the
contract administration of the Qulliq
Energy Corporation, I think you had made
it clear in your opening comments too that
again, there’s always public perception in
dealing with public funds to ensure that
funds are going and are properly allocated.
Without evidence that key controls are put
in there, I think it does leave people
questioning how contracts are given out
and how the procurement is done.

I just wanted, again, some clarification in
terms of when the audit was done and in
reviewing the files of the Qulliq Energy
Corporation. | think it wasn’t stated in your
report, but there is no evidence that there
were any criminal actions or malicious
intent of wrongdoing. That wasn’t
determined with the audit. Thank you. Mr.
Ferguson.

Mr. Ferguson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Certainly, no, we did not identify any

situations that we felt where there was any
misappropriation of funds or any deliberate
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or intentional disregard for the rules. So
again, Mr. Chairman, we didn’t find any
indication of that type of activity. Thank
you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ferguson. |
guess | had Mr. Curley on my list. Mr.
Curley.

Mr. Curley: Thank you. I want to follow
up on Qullig Energy as well because it’s
alluded to and we will get to it
appropriately at a later point, but I want to
take advantage of Mr. Ferguson’s reference
in the audit that “internal policy” is the
term used by your officials. I call it an
internal practice. That’s my definition of it.

The practice was that they had procedures
that they used for the awarding of
contracts. How can a practice be called an
internal policy when no one has approved
it? Qulliq Energy was using that internal
procedure, which | call a practice, rightly
or wrongly, | think wrongly in my view.
Why do you allude to it as an internal
policy instead of the practice that was used
that may not have been... ?

I know the Qullig Energy president earlier
indicated that they will have the procedures
approved in June. | don’t know why they
have to wait that long if they have been
applying that policy or that practice. So I’'m
a little confused why it would be called an
internal policy when it has never been
authorized by anyone, from the officials or
the board of directors. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Mr.
Ferguson.

Mr. Ferguson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I’m not sure of the specific reference that is
being referred to. Again, in general terms,
we identified that the corporation at the
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time did not have a framework in place.
They were following practices consistent
with the government practices, but that was
not approved by the board of the
corporation at the time. So I’m not quite
sure which reference to policy the question
is referring to, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ferguson. |
believe Mr. Curley is referring to paragraph
21 on page 8 of the report, but Mr. Curley,
could you confirm?

Mr. Curley: Yes, it was alluded to. On the
page by page, no doubt, we will get to it,

but | was curious about it because I cannot
understand how an internal practice can be
called an internal policy when no one has

ever authorized it. So can that statement or
my concern be at least corrected? Whether
or not it’s still being applied, |1 don’t know.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Mr.
Ferguson.

Mr. Ferguson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Actually, I’ll ask Mr. Campbell to answer
the question.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ferguson. Mr.
Campbell.

Mr. Campbell: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Yes, we had identified this as an internal
policy because the entity had written it
down. Sometimes when you see a practice,
it’s the way that people are behaving, even
though it’s not written down. In this case, it
was a policy that they had created for
themselves. It was written down and it was
not consistent with the GN framework.
And the Member is absolutely right that
those things should be properly approved. |
absolutely agree and that’s what the
recommendation says in paragraph 22.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

ACSbe >e*PLLC L*UDA*ac DSLC
Lcb*Meob 0a 2¢ LRLEI*NC ADZNL > g
PY<da *PeC>ILE NN
bNLAM 0 d<I>ANES. Coa. ARNMCJ
SH>ALENAH MO, <P <ID<IL,
ac<eatLrUs CALAC Sb>ALE M2 bd,
Ab/RP>Csb,

AP/RPCSe OLNMNYO): Sdyal®, MC SUN.
MC do, 21-1¢ aND>NSH®DIC D>Sh>IShseDs,
L<ALSe 8-T Dobbc<do. MC dc

a O AP PADL?

de ONMNJO): A, Ca LALSNUC
SPrsPabNsHC Coa DSbD>IDSebD* L% Pr<o
JAASDINPLLSb>LAD DPAR*a MM al AU AD<
A><lo Acd?/nYD>IA>qQ eI

AC A>T GRC>I® DIULD>T SR> S0

g PeC> P/l Gom C*a. AFLoONNYS
CLLSb/Lse JsepeC>eea < AALoONL,
DeCPEL S A DAL al.

Ab/PCSe OLMNJC): Sdy*al™®, MC dc. MC
SN,

SLNe ONMNJ9): Sdveal™, APYRPCS®, [MC
bL>c PDSda<<E,

Ab/PCSe (OLANJO): sdyal™®, MC SUNe.
MC bt>e.

bL>C (ONNNUO): Sdval™, Ab/<DCSb,
asaA®l/cP>eIY Coa <\ Addo
DALP>T G 5 CAL*a. NNGSCSheCseIse
ADIALDE® Aced?DIA*Q D% Ca
IALPTG®CH*LE NNGCH>C DeI® CAL .
Lebd/Le DosPedse 0 D¢ LRLbd Y C

Ll o® LebeD®N Actn<sedse Cbd<
ACALYD>NANLES A eC>NIA S
CAL*a 22-T <DcSdyc<n/Ly2C

CAL®a. ADa®. sdy*al®, AbYRDCse,

67




Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Campbell. Mr.
Curley.

Mr. Curley: Thank you. I’m just flagging
that for now. At the appropriate time, page
by page, no doubt we will get back to it,
but I alluded to earlier in our briefing this
morning that a practice of this kind in the
private sector, if an internal practice was
performed that’s contrary to the company
policy, the person in charge of it would be
fired, yet in this case, it’s business as usual
with one of our Crown corporations. That’s
completely scary in some ways.

Mr. Chairman, | have a question with
respect to the training issues or training
references that the Auditor General, in his
opening statement, alluded to and I think
quite importantly, particularly in paragraph
16. The last paragraph stated that “...we
found no mandatory training on awarding
and administering contracts...” I’m trying
to get clarification on whether or not
internal orientation should be called
training or should there be training
mandatory set for some key positions
instead of leaving it to the department
where they will carry out the training.

Would | be correct that some more
extensive training may be required for
some officials or managers, maybe
conducted by independent training
institutions, so that they would be
accredited for this type of stuff? Maybe the
Auditor General can probably help me out
because I think it’s kind of too broad a
word to use “training is required.” What are
we talking about, training specifically on
what they call the policy framework, the
manuals, and whatnot, or should there be
additional training needed for some of the
ongoing contract managers or officials?
Thank you.
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Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Mr.
Ferguson.

Mr. Ferguson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Certainly training, in this instance and for
something as important as procurement,
needs to be a program that is formalized. It
needs to be based on the roles and
responsibilities of the individuals. Some
training may be training that people require
once. Other training may be training that
needs to be more ongoing and that there
need to be refreshers.

Really, it’s something that an organization
needs to put together a training plan related
to how it’s going to train the individuals
involved in the procurement process, what
types of areas they will need training in,
how often they will get that training, and
where they can get that training. So it all
has to be part of an integrated plan of
making sure that the people involved in this
activity get the training and have the
capacity to fulfill their responsibilities.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ferguson. Just
a question to follow up with that because
I’m sure your office also does contracting
for different goods and services. I’m just
curious: how long are your own office’s
training programs for staff that is
responsible for doing procurement and
contracting? Mr. Ferguson.

Mr. Ferguson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I don’t have our specific training plan with
me or the individual responsible for that,
but certainly, it’s something that we take
very seriously, making sure that the people
in all of our administration areas get the
training that they need to be able to
complete the functions that they have to
complete.
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Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ferguson. |
have no more names on my list for
Members’ general comments and
questions. We can move on to agenda item
No. 11 and go right into the Auditor
General’s report and the paragraph-by-
paragraph review. We will start with the
introduction, going through paragraphs 1 to
9. Do you have any questions on
paragraphs 1 to 9? In terms of pages 1 to 9,
it also spills over onto pages 27 to 29 about
the audit and the introduction of how the
audit was done. If we don’t have any
names, I’ll ask a question to our three
witnesses on the other side there.

In terms of the report, we have been asking
different questions about what the action
plan will be and when we will get the
action plan. I think maybe one of the
questions stepping back even a little bit
farther would be: in your department or as
president of your corporation, what tools
do you need to be able to meet the
recommendations or follow up on the
recommendations? With that, | mean what
is needed to be able to follow through to
help maybe correct some of the human
resource capacity issues, to have the
mechanisms in place to be able to make
sure that all the checks and balances are
there so that the contracts are awarded

properly.

| think what | will do is start with the
Deputy Minister of Community and
Government Services, Ms. Lausman.

Ms. Lausman: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I think, frankly, the focus that we have... .
I’ll start with training. We actually promote
procurement staff getting certification in
procurement and there are a number of
certifications for that purpose. We have
staff with those certifications and we have
staff on training at the moment to attain
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those certifications.

Our next challenge will be how we retain
those folks once we get them trained. We
are also looking to put together an ongoing,
more formal training process and again it
comes down to capacity. We need folks to
put that together. We could certainly
contract to have that training manual put
together.

With the issue of capacity building, I think
we rely on the OAG’s recommendations
from a former audit to guide us in that and
certainly it’s a concern more broadly to the
whole of the GN. There’s an awful lot of
work that is being undertaken with respect
to those recommendations, moving staffing
processes forward, and closing the gap on
capacity, which includes training in many
areas too.

So those are generally the focus of CGS.
The requirements for achieving that is time
and people, and we do that through
contracts curiously enough or we do that
through in-house capabilities. So we don’t
just focus on one avenue because we need
more than one tool in our box to make sure
that we actually achieve this and advance
progress. So that’s generally what our
focus will be and has been over the next
while. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Lausman.
Next, we will go to the President of the
Nunavut Housing Corporation, Mr.
Barriault.

Mr. Barriault: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Similar to my colleagues, one of our
biggest challenges is that of capacity. In
our case, though, it’s not just vacancies; it’s
a lack of dedicated positions to contracting
and procurement. As | stated in my
opening remarks, we have one
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indeterminate procurement and contracting
position within all of Nunavut Housing
Corporation currently. So for us to be able
to be successful in the long term on our
procurement framework, we need more
dedicated positions and we are identifying
this as part of our internal organizational
review.

As MLA Ningeongan stated, when you are
short staffed or you are short players on the
ice, the rest are working harder and that
creates a challenge, of course, in retention
of staff. Although, as per this tabled report
on procurement activities of the GN shows,
there are areas that we are lacking in and
need improvement on, we must also
remember to commend the people who
have worked hard to keep things going
with the challenges that they do have. So
there are a lot of good things being done as
well. It may not be perfect, but we are
generally trying to move things in the right
direction and the people who we do have as
staff are working very hard and are very
dedicated to improve things.

So other than staffing in the right positions,
we need the tools, as mentioned earlier, and
the processes to ensure continuity. As we
do have staff turnover at times, we want the
systems to be robust enough and the
training processes that the next people who
come aboard will get the proper formation
and be aware of the rules to follow and
how to perform their work. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Barriault. Now
for the President of the Qullig Energy
Corporation, Mr. Mackey.

Mr. Mackey: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
echo the same response in terms of
increasing capacity. During the course of
the audit, the manager responsible for
procurement for the Qullig Energy
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Corporation departed the organization and
during his exit interview, he was clear that
he had worked a lengthy period of time
with high volume of work, which
precluded his ability to essentially train
other individuals to do his job but also to
even begin to look at the bigger picture in
terms of the QEC framework. So we
recognized the need to increase there.

We split the responsibility for managing
the procurement into two different
positions and have recruited and filled
those positions. It doesn’t stop there. We
have identified individuals within the
organization who have the ability to work
within procurement. We are developing
career development plans for them so that
they are able to achieve the accreditation
necessary to manage these departments.
We will be aggressively working with them
to get that training accomplished.

Speaking of training, we are working with
CGS to identify the training resources
necessary in relation to QEC’s procurement
framework. We will work with CGS to
develop the training materials and we will
take ownership of those training materials
to ensure that they are delivered regularly
to all staff that are involved within
procurement within QEC.

And a final step for us is the identification
of the necessity to have an internal audit
position. We are currently finalizing the job
description for that position with our board
of directors and we will be actively
recruiting that position or filling it within
the next quarter. The role of that internal
auditor position will be to review the
procurement activities that occur over the
course of the year and report those findings
back to the board of directors, with the
intention that this will preclude the
necessity of being in front of the Standing
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Committee in the future. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Mackey.
Specifically for the Qulliq Energy
Corporation, | was wondering in terms of
how closely you will be working with
CGS. Again, it just comes from the Auditor
General’s comments about the concerns
that he has with the corporation in terms of
the way that it’s structured for the
procurement and contracting. I’m just
wondering if you could expand maybe a
little bit more on how that will roll out and
how you will work with Community and
Government Services. Mr. Mackey.

Mr. Mackey: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
There are two components, | guess, that
raise concerns certainly for myself and for
the OAG’s office, and that is the fact that
Qullig Energy, from its inception as the
Nunavut Power Corporation, had utilized a
purchasing framework that it hadn’t
officially adopted or hadn’t officially been
brought to the board for its approval.
Although the corporation was doing its
own procurement and following the GN
procurement framework, it hadn’t brought
that to the board and asked the board for
approval and direction to follow through
with that framework. That’s the one
component.

In looking at the GN procurement
framework, some of the reasons why it was
never adopted wholly were, in large part,
that there are some aspects of the
framework that the GN has that don’t apply
specifically to a revenue-generating Crown
corporation. In looking at moving forward
in terms of partnering with CGS, we have
already begun that process in utilizing their
procurement department to identify aspects
of the QEC procurement framework that
can be brought to our board of directors in
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June for their approval.

We’re also working with CGS to develop
the training aspects for each part of the
QEC-specific framework that will be
approved by the board, and then we will
utilize the resources that are available
within CGS to develop our own so that
we’re able to, moving forward, deliver that
training that’s necessary on a regular basis
to our own employees. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Mackey.
Again, it has been mentioned, I think, three
or four times about how QEC is different
and the guidelines have to be modified
because of the revenue-generating aspect of
the corporation. I’m wondering if you
could expand on that in a sense that what
difference there is between... . To me,
procurement is procurement.

In giving out contracts, you are contracting
an individual or a business to do a job.
Why does it matter whether you’re a
revenue-generating corporation or whether
you’re the Government of Nunavut? | think
the bottom line is value for the dollars that
are spent. 1 don’t know, | mean
specifically, what are you driving at that
has to be different from what the GN does.
Mr. Mackey.

Mr. Mackey: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
don’t think I’ll get into the specifics now,
but certainly those are some of the things
that can be identified within our action plan
when it’s delivered.

In particular, when you look at the
departments of the GN, they identify the
funds that they need a year in advance and
they have those funds given to them.
Whereas, within the Qulliq Energy
Corporation, although we approve our
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operating and capital budgets, we don’t
receive the funds for those up front at the
beginning of the year; they’re earned over
the course of the year.

Some things as simple as accreditation of
funds are not simple, but something like
the accreditation of funds is different for us
in terms of the fact that when we are
ensuring that funds are available for
procurement, they’re not necessarily
available when we go out to do our
procurement. They may become available
over the course of the year while we earn
that revenue. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Mackey. |
have Mr. Ningark on my list. Mr. Ningark.

Mr. Ningark: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
With your indulgence, Mr. Chairman, |
would like to direct your attention and ask
questions on the introduction of the
Auditor General’s report, paragraph 3.
Thank you.

In paragraph 3 of your report, you indicate
that “In the 2010-11 fiscal year,
Government of Nunavut departments
awarded and spent about $506 million
(including approximately $163 million
spent on fuel) on contracts.” This amount
was approximately 45 percent of the
government’s 2010-11 main estimates.

My question is this, Mr. Chairman: did the
volume of the government’s contracting
activity surprise you and how does it
compare to contracting activity undertaken
by the other two territorial governments,
which your office also audits? Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ningark. |
believe Mr. Ferguson was just over in the
NWT dealing with a similar type of audit,
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so | don’t know if he could provide an
answer for that. Mr. Ferguson.

Mr. Ferguson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
As auditors, it takes a lot to surprise us, so |
wouldn’t say that we were surprised.

Our role in this audit was to see whether
the government had in place an appropriate
framework and whether they were applying
the rules against the framework in the
amount of purchasing that was done and
the value of that purchasing that was done.
I don’t think we really spent any time
trying to assess the size of that. Likewise, |
don’t have numbers of the other two
territories with me, so | really can’t do that
comparison right now, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ferguson. Mr.
Ningark.

Mr. Ningark: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Paragraph 4 of your report describes the
role of the Department of Community and
Government Services as the government’s
primary contract authority. We realize that.
You indicate that “Government of Nunavut
departments and [Crown] corporations are
responsible for defining their procurement
requirements; however, the departments are
limited in what they can procure
independently. Corporations are
responsible for their own procurement of
goods and services and are not required to
go through CGS.”

My question, Mr. Chairman, is: given the
current size and structure of the
Government of Nunavut, is this approach
to centralization of procurement
appropriate? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ningark. Mr.
Ferguson.
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Mr. Ferguson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Again | think this part of the report is
introductory and it’s explaining the
situation as it is right now.

From what we have heard from
representatives of the various organizations
here today, all of whom have issues around
capacity, issues around training and that
type of thing, I think we see the importance
of organizations in Nunavut making sure
they are taking advantage of, let’s call
them, the synergies that would exist
between the different organizations,
whether it’s taking advantage of training
approaches that each other is using or
expertise that each other has.

So the audit was not specifically, one,
looking at whether procurement was
structured properly; it was more looking at
whether the existing framework was the
right framework and whether it was being
applied. However, | think that, again
through the audit and through the
discussion today, it’s clear that it’s
important that there be a certain level of
cooperation, which means that it’s
important that not every organization and
department be doing procurement totally in
isolation. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ferguson. Mr.
Ningark.

Mr. Ningark: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
thank the Auditor General. So what you’re
telling us is that for a new territory, it’s
quite understandable that we go through
the centralized office to do our contracting
procedures. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ningark. Next
on my list I have Mr. Tapardjuk.

Mr. Tapardjuk (interpretation): Thank
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you, Mr. Chairman. | haven’t heard much
about page 28 of the report. Your staff had
interviewed some people from Nunavut
Tunngavik Incorporated during your audit.
Did NTI identify any concerns or did they
have any recommendations? Did you hear
anything from NTI on what improvements
the government should be making? Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Tapardjuk. Mr.
Ferguson.

Mr. Ferguson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I’ll ask Mr. Campbell to answer that
question.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ferguson. Mr.
Campobell.

Mr. Campbell: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I thank the Member for the question. In the
course of our work, we believe it’s
important to talk to stakeholders, especially
one as important as NTI, in issues such as
this. When we meet with those
organizations, we’re not auditing them, so
we wouldn’t put in an audit report the
details of what they would have told us.

However, what | will say is that certainly,
they were very clear on the importance of
the land claims agreement and the NNI
Policy, and they referred to issues that they
had already brought up and were already in
the public domain. There wasn’t anything
that they told us that wasn’t already in the
public domain, but they certainly
reinforced the importance of the land
claims agreement and the NNI Policy.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Campbell. Mr.
Tapardjuk.

Mr. Tapardjuk (interpretation): Thank
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you. Thank you, Mr. Campbell. NTI has to
be involved in this process, especially
when it involves the land claims
agreement. On page 28 of your report, you
indicated that your audit “excluded
contracts for the purchase of bulk fuel and
liquor.” I believe there are two storage
facilities that have to be resupplied
annually. What were your reasons for this
exclusion in the audit? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Tapardjuk. Mr.
Ferguson.

Mr. Ferguson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
This is a standard type of decision that we
have to make whenever we’re doing any
audit. Given that we’re trying to get an
audit done within a certain timeframe, we
often have to define the scope in a way to
make sure that we can do that. So this was
simply just a question of scope and making
sure that we were putting our time and
effort into the areas that we felt we should
be looking at in order to get the audit done
in the timeframe we were looking at. So
this was simply just a way of putting a box
around exactly what it was we wanted to
audit. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ferguson. Any
other questions? Mr. Curley.

Mr. Curley: Thank you. Mr. Chairman, |
want to follow up on a couple of areas: one
has to do with the statement made through
the opening statement; the other on the
bottom of page 8 onto 9, where the Auditor
General’s report indicated that as they
examined the land claims agreement, it was
not always consistently applied. I know
that we’re going to get to paragraphs 76
and 77, but I want a little more clarification
on exactly what you mean by “not
consistently applied.” How and why is it
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not consistently applied with respect to the
files that you looked at that involve Inuit
business firms as well as their registration,
no doubt, with CG&S? Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Mr.
Ferguson.

Mr. Ferguson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I’ll ask Ms. Salvail to answer this question.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ferguson. Ms.
Salvail.

Ms. Salvail: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Maybe | should provide an example of
what we found. For example, we found
cases where hamlets were put as a
subcontractor as being given the local
discount. In some cases, we found that
some of the staff said yes to that. In some
cases, they wouldn’t allow the local
discount to be applied for a hamlet. So this
is an example of whether it was applied
inconsistently.

Another example is where it applies to
goods. The bid adjustment needs to be
applied only on the first $100,000 and
sometimes we found instances that it would
apply correctly. In one instance, we found
that it was applied to the whole amount. So
if the contract was half a million, it was
applied to the whole amount. So this is why
we say it’s inconsistent. Sometimes we
found that it’s applied correctly and
sometimes it was not. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Salvail. Mr.
Curley.

Mr. Curley: Thank you. Mr. Chairman, if
you would permit me, I would like to ask
the Deputy Minister responsible for the
NNI Policy to explain exactly whether or
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not he agrees that these particular
contractors or subcontractors did not get a
fair share. Could he explain to the
Committee whether or not they should
have been properly listed as qualified for
the NNI Policy and, if not, why not? Thank
you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. That
question is directed to the Deputy Minister
of Economic Development and
Transportation, so if Mr. Long could please
answer the question.

Mr. Long: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Certainly, part of the job of the NNI
Secretariat is to review, monitor, and
ensure that all portions of Article 24 and
the policy are properly applied. Until
recently, we did not have the capacity to do
that within the last six months.

We recognized, based on a study we did
last year, that there was more monitoring
required, so we have hired a person with a
specific job of monitoring implementation
and accounting. We call him an analyst and
his position is to ensure that these things
are properly applied, including the bonuses
and penalties. He is relatively new to his
job, he has been in training in our
department with the other staff, and he is
currently working with the Procurement
Division of CGS to understand the full
procurement policy. Our intention is, going
forward, that he will be able to monitor and
review files during the implementation to
ensure that everything is done correctly.

We have other staff whose job is at the
earlier stages to review contracts as they’re
let. We now have, I hope, sufficient
capacity to do a better job of that
monitoring. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Long. Mr.
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Curley.

Mr. Curley: Thank you. | would like to
ask the housing corporation’s president the
same question why those qualified
contractors who should have been assessed
that they qualify for bid adjustments were
not awarded, pursuant to those files that
were looked at. Is that a similar kind of
problem you see, as alluded to by the
Auditor General’s report? Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Mr.
Barriault.

Mr. Barriault: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
On the Nunavut Housing Corporation’s
side, when | assumed the role of president
and CEO about two and a half years ago
now, | did find that the NNI Policy and
some others were not necessarily applied in
a consistent fashion. So we undertook to
ensure that we would have consistency in
how contracts were assessed and the NNI
Policy, in particular, was applied. These
steps have been rolled out and | believe that
we are a lot more consistent than we were
two years ago. So things have definitely
improved.

I’m not aware of any situations whereby
someone did not receive a contract because
of misapplication of the NNI Policy. More
than anything, what we have found as a
result of the OAG’s audit is things such as
people assuming that companies were on
the NTI registry as well as the NNI registry
based on their knowledge of the company.
As such, we had not printed the screen that
showed that the verification had taken
place. So where we were lacking was
having that evidence trail that the
verifications were appropriately done,
although we have other documentation that
shows corrections and adjustments being
made that reflected these things.
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From the housing corporation’s
perspective, I’m not aware of any situations
where anyone was misawarded as a result
of misinterpretation. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Barriault. Mr.
Curley.

Mr. Curley: Thank you. I assume that all
of those contracts contain a wording that
says that NNI provisions apply to those
contracts. | believe that has always been a
standard. You would assume that if you
have that wording on the tender, which has
been since the year 2000, that there would
have been consistency.

So my question to the Deputy Minister of
CGS is: why has the government allowed
inconsistencies to continue when the policy
is clearly stated that those who are
qualified and registered as Inuit firms do...
? Once they have both accreditations from
NTI as well as CGS, why not apply the
same rules as far as implementing the NNI
Policy is concerned? To the Deputy
Minister of CGS.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Ms.
Lausman.

Ms. Lausman: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Some of the instances of inconsistency in
the application of the NNI Policy for
contracts that the Auditor General looked at
have to do with some of the points that
have already been mentioned. Some of it
was documenting in the file the fact that
companies were registered NNI or NTI and
ensuring that the paper trail was there.

Certainly, the application of labour bonuses
was not depending on the dollar value.
That was an issue. So it wasn’t consistent
from one office to the other necessarily.
For the most part, the application of NNI,
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the policy itself, it is identified on all tender
activity that goes out there and is
advertised. So it’s always identified as
being part of the evaluation criteria for a
contract, whether it’s goods, services, or
construction. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Lausman. Mr.
Curley.

Mr. Curley: Thank you. | noted, though,
during the debate recently that one reason
why, and the Auditor General’s office may
be interested in this one, it wasn’t applied
consistently was they were using different
forms. Would I be correct in asking the
Deputy Minister of CGS that, in fact, is the
case, that different forms were used or your
officials may have used one kind than
someone else did? Is there a consistent
form that should be used in listing what
they’re qualified for or what they’re
including in their backup information when
submitting a tender? Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Ms.
Lausman.

Ms. Lausman: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
We certainly didn’t have any instances of
that particular situation as part of this audit,
so | can’t speak to that.

For the most part, the way that proponents
respond to NNI for any of our contracts is
detailed in the documents that go online
and there are certainly examples provided
for proponents to respond accordingly.
What CGS looks for is consistent
information and that the right information
is there so that it’s possible to evaluate
proponents. We certainly don’t, at CGS,
create any particular forms for proponents
to respond back on other than tender forms
for construction, for instance.
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So | can’t really speak to that in the context
of this audit because there wasn’t that kind
of information that was reviewed and |
don’t have the details of documents for
every type of procurement readily at hand
here. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Lausman. Mr.
Curley.

Mr. Curley: The reason I’m asking that is
in your opening statements on page 2, you
alluded to the standardized application of
the NNI Policy. You are developing new
forms and templates of all the departments
with the Department of Justice. Who is the
lead department responsible for the NNI
review? Thank you. To the Deputy
Minister of CGS.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Ms.
Lausman.

Ms. Lausman: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The lead department for the NNI Policy is
the Department of Economic Development
and Transportation through the NNI
Secretariat. CGS develops a number of
forms and templates as part of the whole
training process on procurement and
managing contracts. We do that with
Justice.

We certainly provide, and that’s what | was
referring to in my opening comments,
feedback to ED&T and the NNI Secretariat
on issues that are difficult to implement
with the procedures around the NNI Policy
so that we can find a way to ensure that
training on data application is more
consistent and is more easily done. The
forms that we develop are around
procurement. The forms that ED&T and
the NNI Secretariat develop are around the
application of the NNI Policy. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Lausman. Mr.
Curley.

Mr. Curley: Thank you. In my opening
comments, | alluded to the status of the
Nunavut Land Claims Agreement. It’s
sanctioned by the Canadian Constitution.
There is another reference that I did not
include that is sort of a resolution or, at
least if there’s a conflict, a resolution
provision if there are inconsistencies with
GN policies. As the case seems to be
developing, there’s a disagreement with
whether who qualifies and who doesn’t.
Now, I’m not going to go into that.

What I’m worried about is that in your
earlier response, you indicated that
procurement common law must apply.
Could you explain a bit about what you... ?
Is that why you have the Department of
Justice included in your shop’s preparation
of the new forms instead of the Department
of ED&T developing forms on behalf of all
the departments? Why not trust the
gentleman who has been given a mandate
and also stated in the House by the Finance
Minister that the lead department is
ED&T?

Could you explain the two processes, one
from your department with the Department
of Justice and ED&T? Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Ms.
Lausman.

Ms. Lausman: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
There are actually two processes, one is
procurement and one is contracting, and
while one flows into another, contract A
and contract B, that has everything to do
with contract law. We certainly always get
legal advice on contracts for obvious
reasons.
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ED&T is definitely the lead on NNI and
the NNI Policy. CGS works closely with
Justice on setting up templates for
constructing common contracts, terms and
conditions in contracts, and ensuring that
we have a consistent approach. So there is
definitely different advice that comes from
different departments.

ED&T and the NNI Secretariat advise on
the NNI Policy and Justice works with us
on setting templates for procuring within
the context of contract law and also within
structuring contracts that lead from RFP
terms and conditions into actually signing
off on a contract once a proponent’s
proposal has been submitted, reviewed, and
accepted. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Lausman. Mr.
Curley.

Mr. Curley: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
That is the reason why | stated the
fundamental statement that we’re part of
the Nunavut land claims negotiations
because the Inuit had to extinguish their
aboriginal title in exchange for certain
rights that is now called the Nunavut Land
Claims Agreement, including Article 24.

I’m just going to clarify because | need
clarification from the Deputy Minister of
CG&S. You indicated, and I quote, on page
2 in the last paragraph, “CGS Procurement
has initiated training within the
department,” that’s a good thing to know,
“to standardize application of the NNI
Policy.” I assume that would have been the
responsibility of ED&T. “We are
developing new forms and templates with
the Department of Justice. And the
Procurement Division has submitted a list
of issues we would like to be discussed as
part of the NNI review process.”
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What scares me is that negotiations with
Article 24 are over. Therefore, the new
measures that are going to improve the
process shouldn’t be conducted under one
department. Why are you independently
developing these new forms with the other
departments when, in fact, it should be
ED&T taking care of these things? Thank
you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Ms.
Lausman.

Ms. Lausman: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Frankly, CGS Procurement is working, as
my colleague, Deputy Minister Bob Long,
just referred to, with the new monitor in
ED&T, in the NNI Secretariat. We are
doing an exchange of training on
procurement and training on the NNI
Policy application. Two have to come
together. They don’t exist as separate
processes and it’s really important that we
are clear in how that works so that training
can be provided to the rest of the staff. It’s
not an individual effort by any stretch.

There’s training that has to happen on
procurement and the NNI Policy
application. It’s frankly an effort that we
team up together on, with ED&T being the
lead on the NNI Policy and application and
CG&S being the lead on training for
procurement. We developed new forms and
templates. We do that with the Department
of Justice and they, again, are relative to
contracting and “templated” procurement
activity for different types of procurement
so that we’ve got some consistent ability
and application of our framework so that
we can train staff properly.

Perhaps it’s the structure of the sentence
that would lead to suggest that we are

doing this independently. In fact, we are
working very closely with ED&T, as we
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must, because it’s the policy that they
manage. We need to work with ED&T and
the NNI Secretariat so that we have a clear
understanding of how we can apply the
policy and how we can train staff to ensure
that there is consistent application and that
it achieves the end goal of the NNI Policy.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Lausman. Mr.
Curley.

Mr. Curley: Thank you. My next question
is: what is wrong with the current templates
and the current forms that ED&T used up
until 2008 that have worked and have been
applied consistently up until 2008 without
any inconsistencies? What’s wrong with
the current forms right now? Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Ms.
Lausman.

Ms. Lausman: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The forms that we currently have
referencing NNI are examples and they’re
examples for the contracting public to
follow as examples of how they might
respond to contracts. They’re also
examples for staff to understand how the
NNI Policy is applied in procuring.

The policy itself has no forms. These have
been drafted and structured over the last
number of years in conjunction with
procurement and the NNI Secretariat and
with input from Justice as well so that we
have common templates and they’re easy to
train folks on and that they actually allow
folks to apply the NNI Policy. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Lausman. Mr.
Curley.

Mr. Curley: Thank you. I still contend
there is an existing form which has been
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filled and used. I believe that your
department is opposed to that particular
provision for reasons that you will try to
get it tabled.

What concerns me is that the negotiations
with Article 24 are over. Any new attempt
to fundamentally change the NNI Policy
requires the consent of NTI because Article
24.3.4 obligates the GN to consult with the
Inuit organizations, not the Department of
Justice. Why is the Department of Justice
involved in a simple template and labour
content form? What’s wrong with that
particular group that is certainly qualified
to get advice directly from ED&T and
NTI? Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Ms.
Lausman.

Ms. Lausman: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I think that question is more appropriately
answered by the Deputy Minister of
ED&T. That’s where the NNI Secretariat
resides and they are the ones taking the
lead and working with NT1 on any review
or proposed or contemplated changes to the
policy to better meet Article 24. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Lausman. Mr.
Curley.

Mr. Curley: Mr. Chairman, | think the
Deputy Minister should read her statements
again. With respect to NNI, she said that
she was working with the Department of
Justice. That’s my word; you can read your
own. On page 2, in the last paragraph, you
are developing a template along with the
Department of Justice and you are making
a list of items that you want to deal with
the Department of Justice on. My advice to
you is: why not discuss them directly with
the Deputy Ministers of ED&T and
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Justice? And NT1 will eventually be
invited, no doubt, somewhere along the
road. What’s wrong with this scenario?
Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Ms.
Lausman.

Ms. Lausman: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I’m not sure I fully understood the question
there, but certainly, the application of the
NNI Policy as a consistent approach has
been identified through this audit as
something that this government needs to
look at. Certainly, conversations around
that have been had with the NNI
Secretariat. In looking at a number of files,
the OAG has pointed out to us where some
of those inconsistencies are. That is
certainly what we are looking to address
through the recommendations of this audit.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Lausman. Mr.
Curley.

Mr. Curley: With the current tenders that
are out right now, do they contain that NNI
wording that NNI provisions apply? Thank
you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Ms.
Lausman.

Ms. Lausman: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Frankly, this audit was based on contracts
from, I believe, 2009-2010 and 2010-11, so
that’s the information that | have before
me. It is certainly the practice for issuing
tenders for contracts to include reference to
NNI Policy application. While | don’t have
copies of all the tender advertisements that
we send out, that’s pretty standard practice.
That’s one of the templates that we look at
publishing so that we do have a standard
application. So other than that, | probably
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don’t have any more detail. Thank you, Mr.

Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Lausman.
We’re actually on the introduction,
paragraphs 1 to 9. We sort of skipped up to
paragraph 77 and we have gone past our
five o’clock timeline. Mr. Curley, can the
question wait until we get to section 77 of
the paragraphs? Thanks. Do any other
Members have questions on paragraphs 1
to 9 or pages 27 and 29 about the actual
audit and how the audit was conducted
specifically? | have no other names on my
list for those specific paragraphs.

In terms of looking at the clock, do
Members wish to adjourn? We have two
more days of review. As the Auditor
General pointed out, he will be here
tomorrow morning, | believe, as well. Is it
the wish of the Committee to adjourn for
the day?

Some Members: Agreed.

Chairman: So it’s nine o’clock tomorrow
morning. Thank you very much.

>>Committee adjourned at 17:15
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